CHEMICAL REVIEWS

Solution-Phase Synthesis of Titanium Dioxide Nanoparticles and **Nanocrystals**

Matteo Cargnello,[†] Thomas R. Gordon,[†] and Christopher B. Murray^{*,†,‡}

[†]Department of Chemistry and [‡]Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104, United States



CONTENTS

1. Introduction	9319
2. General Principles for Synthesis of Titania	
Particles	9322
2.1. Solution-Phase Synthesis of Uniform Par-	
ticles	9322
2.2. Surfactants and Protecting Ligands	9323
3. Titanium Precursors	9324
3.1. Titanium Alkoxides	9324
3.2. Titanium Halides (TiCl ₄ and TiF ₄)	9324
3.3. Titanatranes	9325
3.4. Titanium Metal and Carboxylate-Derived	
Compounds	9325
3.5. Titanium(IV) Bis(ammoniumlactato) Dihydr-	
oxide	9325
3.6. Titanium Sulfate and Oxysulfate	9325
3.7. Oxobis(2,4-pentanedionato- <i>O</i> , <i>O</i> ')titanium	
[TiO(acac) ₂]	9325
4. Aqueous Methods	9325
4.1. Sol–Gel Methods	9325
4.2. Hydrothermal Methods	9328
5. Nonaqueous Methods	9333
5.1. Solvothermal Methods	9333
5.2. Nonhydrolytic Methods	9336
6. Templated Approaches	9339
6.1. Soft Templates	9340
6.2. Hard Templates	9341
7. Summary and Perspectives	9341
Author Information	9342
Corresponding Author	9342
Notes	9342
Biographies	9342
Acknowledgments	9342
Relefences	9342

1. INTRODUCTION

Titanium dioxide or titania (TiO_2) is one of the most abundant compounds on our planet and a very appealing material for a variety of applications. Unique physical and chemical characteristics combined with earth abundance and nontoxicity, as well as high thermal and chemical stability, make it one of the most employed materials in pigments, UV sunscreens, cosmetics, medical implants, and sensors.¹ In addition to these traditional applications, titania is being employed in many other emerging applications including optoelectronics, photovoltaics, catalysis, fuel cells, batteries, smart windows, and self-cleaning and antifogging surfaces. It is also the most heavily investigated wide band gap semiconductor for photocatalytic and photoelectrocatalytic processes, which have gained increased interest in recent years within the scientific community.²

Titania particles and structures possessing small particle and feature size (below 100 nm) can show high visible light transparency combined with high UV light absorption, and in some cases they display iridescence.³ Small nanoparticles can also enhance the adsorption coefficients of organic molecules adsorbed on their surfaces.⁴ In addition, altering the size, as well as the shape, of titania nanoparticles has been shown to strongly influence the adsorption of molecules and the rate of electron transfer events at the particle surface, which has potentially important implications for a variety of applications, including catalysis. As a result, titania particles in the size regime 1-100 nm are very interesting for a variety of technological applications, and the synthesis of well-controlled titania nanostructures is important in order to impart the desired characteristics to the final material. Particle size, shape, and phase are critical in determining the final properties of the nanoscale materials.

Among the many methods used to prepare nanoparticles and nanostructures, a primary classification can be made by distinguishing physical and chemical methods. Physical methods usually rely on top-down approaches in which small structures are fabricated from larger ones. In contrast, chemical methods most commonly proceed through a bottom-up approach, in which molecular precursors react to form the final larger structures. Both methods have advantages and disadvantages: physical methods can produce large quantities of material (e.g., the preferred methods in the electronic industry are physical methods) but their resolution is limited to tens of nanometers. Chemical methods, on the other hand, are typically performed at a smaller scale in which the precision during the preparation of small (e.g., <100 nm and often <10 nm) structures can approach the atomic-layer limit.⁵

Wet chemical or solution-phase methods, in particular, are best suited to achieve the finest control over particle size, shape, and composition as desired for several of the above-mentioned

Special Issue: 2014 Titanium Dioxide Nanomaterials

Received: March 27, 2014 Published: July 8, 2014





Figure 1. Connectivity of TiO_6^{2-} octahedral units in (a) anatase, (b) rutile, and (c) brookite. Reprinted with permission from ref 15. Copyright 2004 Elsevier.

applications. This control primarily comes from the use of molecular precursors in combination with organic molecules that act as protecting or structure-directing agents in solution and control/limit the growth of the structures. A further advantage of such methods is that the particles often display high dispersibility in common solvents, allowing for the preparation of thin films from concentrated solutions⁶ in addition to their use as powders. Nanostructures with complex morphologies can be also achieved by manipulating nanocrystal growth in solution.^{7,8} Additionally, recent methods for removing or replacing the long organic ligands with smaller and compact organic or inorganic molecules^{9–11} have allowed for the utilization of nanocrystals with controlled morphology in an even broader spectrum of materials science applications than were previously possible.

Titania naturally forms in four main phases: rutile, anatase, brookite, and $TiO_2(B)$. The relative stability of the four titania phases depends on particle size, with rutile being the thermodynamically stable form in bulk titania but anatase being the most stable phase at sizes below 14 nm.¹² Brookite and $TiO_2(B)$ are metastable forms that are not commonly observed in minerals and are difficult to synthesize in pure form. Several polymorphs have been synthesized, including many high-pressure phases.¹³ The structural difference between these polymorphs lies in the connectivity of the TiO_6^{2-} octahedral units, which share edges and corners in different ways depending on the crystal phase: generally speaking, anatase forms from octahedra that share four edges; in rutile, two edges are shared; and in brookite, three edges are shared (Figure 1).^{14,15} For TiO₂(B), the fundamental building block is similar to the anatase one, with four octahedra sharing edges, but with a different 3D arrangement that produces a layered structure.^{13,16} Interestingly, the Ti-O bond distances do not vary much between the different polymorphs, while the O-O distances among shared and unshared octahedral are quite variable. The four polymorphs can be distinguished by X-ray diffraction (XRD), Raman spectroscopy, and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) techniques. Due to the similar structure, however, anatase and brookite phases can easily be confused, especially when present as mixtures. In those cases, electrochemical techniques such as cyclic voltammetry can be used to distinguish the different electrochemical response of the polymorphs.^{17,18}

Some authors have claimed that the geometry of the titanium precursor in solution can influence the formation of a particular

phase, because it influences how the octahedral subunits assemble to form titania. For example, at high pH (basic), the number of OH groups increases, increasing the probability of edge sharing, thus favoring anatase. At low pH, on the other hand, more water molecules are bound to the Ti⁴⁺ center, thus favoring corner-sharing and formation of the rutile phase.¹⁹ This has been generally observed for aqueous-phase routes to titania, such as hydrothermal synthesis. However, these rules are not strict and the formation of other phases has been reported.¹⁹ To accurately predict the formation of a particular phase, the partial charge model is invoked,²⁰ which predicts the size of the hydration sphere around cations or anions in solution by assuming that water molecules are "electrostricted" or held in place by the electrostatic field of the ion. Therefore, titanium ions with a different immediate coordination sphere would have a certain number of water molecules electrostricted in the surroundings, and the structure of this ion and of the water molecules associated with it would dictate the formation of one phase over another.

In this review, we summarize the main synthetic techniques used to prepare titania nanocrystals with controlled properties in the nanoscale regime. We limit this review to quasi-zerodimensional systems, which we define as nearly isotropic nanocrystals (spherical or quasi-spherical) with sizes smaller than 100 nm. Particular focus is given to solution-phase synthesis, which allows exquisite control over many of the parameters cited above. Despite being incredibly important, particularly for industrial applications, titania produced by gasphase and physical methods is excluded from this discussion.

The review is organized as follows: section 2 reviews nanocrystal synthesis and the use of surfactants in combination with wet chemistry methods; section 3 reports a list of titania precursors along with availability and chemical properties; section 4 discusses aqueous synthetic methods, in particular sol-gel and hydrothermal methods; section 5 is an overview of nonaqueous, surfactant-assisted synthetic methods including solvothermal and nonhydrolytic processes; and section 6 reports templated approaches for titania synthesis. While clear distinctions between several of the solution-phase methods often cannot be drawn due to the blending of various techniques, we attempt to categorize here for the sake of clarity. Table 1 summarizes the synthetic procedures reported in this review.

Table 1. Synthetic Procedures to Prepare Titania Nanoparticles and Nanocrystals with Different Morphologies and Crystal Phases

Ti precursor	product morphology	surfactants or additives	crystal phase ^a	ref			
Sol–Gel Methods							
TiCl ₄	micrometer-size spheres	HCl, Na ₂ SO ₄	R or R+A	87			
titanium butoxide	spheres	HNO ₃	А	91			
titanium ethoxide	micrometer-size spheres	none	amorphous	88			
titanium ethoxide	micrometer-size porous and nonporous spheres	various salts and polymers	amorphous	89			
acetylacetone-modified TTIP^b	spheres	<i>p</i> -toluenesulfonic acid	Α	92			
TiCl ₄	irregular spheres	myristic acid	Α	93			
acetylacetone-modified TTIP	spheres	F127-CTAB ^c	Α	94, 95			
TTIP	spheres	HCl	R or A	97			
TTIP	spheres	NaCl	Α	98			
TTIP^d	irregular	diethylene glycol	Α	101			
titanatrane ^e	spheres or spindles	NH ₃	Α	104			
titanatrane ^e	spindles	amino acids ^f	Α	105			
TiCl ₄	irregular	C16mimCl, C4mimBF4 ^g	$TiO_2(B)$	106			
TiCl ₄	irregular	several ionic liquids	$TiO_2(B)$	107			
	Hydrothermal M	ethods					
TTIP	irregular	ethanol + HNO ₃	Α	6			
titanium glycolate	irregular	ammonia	В	71, 73			
titanium glycolate	irregular spheres	H ₂ SO ₄	В	81			
TTIP	irregular spheres	none	R	109			
titania powder (rutile)	nanotubes	Na ⁺	titanate	112,113			
titanate nanotubes	nanotubes	Na ⁺	В	115			
titanate nanotubes	nanorods	HNO ₃	A	116			
titania powder	nanosheets	Na ⁺	titanate	118			
titanate nanotubes	tetragonal rods	none	Α	117			
lamellar protonated titanate	several, both elongated and compact	H^+	A	119			
lamellar protonated titanate	small platelets	HF	А	120			
titanate nanotubes	bipyramids, spindles, needles	Li ⁺ , Na ⁺ , or K ⁺	А	121			
TiCl ₄	irregular	Cl ⁻ (from HCl or NaCl)	B > R	126			
Ti(OH) ₄	several	oxalate, lactate, F ⁻ , acetate, SO ₄ ²⁻	A, B, or R	128			
$Ti(SO_4)_2$, $TiCl_4$, TiF_4 , $Ti(OBu)_4$	bipyramids, rods, irregular shapes	hydrazine	A or mixed	129			
$(NH_4)_2(OH)_2Ti(C_3H_4O_3)_2^n$	irregular spheres	none	Α	131			
TiOSO ₄	large rods (spindles)	OH-	В	124			
$(NH_4)_2(OH)_2Ti(C_3H_4O_3)_2$	spherical or rodlike	urea	A or B	132			
Ti(OBu) ₄	spheres or truncated bipyramids	HF, H_2O_2	Α	133			
titanium powder	hierarchical spheres	HF	Α	135			
$Ti(SO_4)_2$	nanocrystalline powder	HF	A	136			
TTIP or TiF ₄	nanoplates	HF	A	137			
Ti(OBu) ₄	rectangular plates	HF	A	138			
TTTP	tetragonal bipyramids	PVP and acetic acid	A	139			
	multitwinned microparticles	F, EDTA	A	140			
lepidocrocite-type $H_{0.68}Ti_{1.83}O_4$	rods	Cs_2CO_3	A	207			
$11(OBu)_4$	irregular spheres	none	А	141			
1	Solvothermal Me	1 4 houtened in l	•	102			
TTID	irregular spheres	1,4-butanedioi	A	102			
1 1 11P	irregular particles	hone	A	148			
titanium <i>tert</i> -butoxide	irregular		A	149			
1 1 11r	totregonal himmerida	oleic acid - NaE	A	150			
TiCl + TiE	irregular	offic acid + Nar	A	151			
$TiCl_3 \neq Tir_4$	faceted crystallites	none		152			
amorphous titania noudor	small subaras	trifuoroacetic acid	Λ, Λ+Κ	150			
TiO(acac)	irregular elongated	sodium laurate	B	160			
Ti(OBu)	spheres and rode	lingleic acid NH HCO	Δ	162			
$T_i(Obu)_4$	spherical papoparticles	henzyl alcohol	A	163 164			
TiCl.	irregular	poly(14-butanediol)	A	166			
ттр	sheets or rhombic	olevlamine, water	A	178			
	Surfactant-Assisted	Methods		110			
TTIP	nanorods; hexagonal nanocrystals	tetraalkylammonium cations	А	111			
TiCl ₄ or TiF ₄	truncated bipyramids, plates	oleic acid + oleylamine + 1-octadecanol	Α	153			
7 7	T 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	,		-			

Chemical Reviews

Table 1. continued

Ti precursor	product morphology	surfactants or additives	crystal phase ^a	ref
	Surfactant-	Assisted Methods		
$TiCl_4 + TTIP$	spherical nanoparticles	oleic acid	amorphous	168
modified TTIP	spherical nanoparticles	$TOPO^k$	not reported	169
TiCl ₄ + titanium butoxide	spherical nanoparticles	ТОРО	Α	170
TTIP	nanorods or spheres	oleic acid	Α	171
TTIP	small spheres or rods	oleic acid + oleylamine	Α	172
TiCl ₄	small rods	oleic acid + oleylamine	Α	173
TTIP or butoxide	thin rods	oleic acid + oleylamine	Α	174
TiCl ₄	small particles	ethanol + benzyl alcohol	А	175
TiCl ₄ , Ti(OR) ₄	small particles	ethanol + benzyl alcohol + water	Α	177
titanium thiobenzoate	spherical nanoparticles	benzyl alcohol	Α	179
TiCl ₄	spherical nanoparticles	<i>tert</i> -butyl alcohol	Α	180
Ti(COT) ₂	spherical	$TBPO^{l} + TOPO$	В	181
TTIP	spherical nanocrystals	oleic acid + H ₂ O ₂	not reported	182
TTIP	faceted, cubiclike nanocrystals	$[\text{bmim}]^+[\text{BF}_4]^-m$	А	185
	Microem	ulsion Methods		
TiCl ₄	spherical nanoparticles	Triton X-100	amorphous	189
titanium ethoxide	spherical particles	NP-5 ⁿ	amorphous	190
TiCl ₄	irregular	NP-5 and NP-9	amorphous	191
TTIP	spherical	PFPECOO ⁻⁺ NH ₄ , PDMAEMA- <i>b</i> -PFOMA ^o	amorphous	192
titanium butoxide	elongated irregular	NP-5, acid	R	193
TiCl_{4}^{P}	irregular	Triton X-100	A+R	194
titanium butoxide ^p	irregular	Triton X-100	А	195
TTIP	spherical	AOT^q	А	196
	Templ	ated Methods		
$(NH_4)_2(OH)_2Ti(C_3H_4O_3)_2$	irregular	R5 peptide	amorphous	200
$\mathrm{TiF_6}^{2-}$	irregular	fungus Fusarium oxysporum	amorphous	201
$(NH_4)_2(OH)_2Ti(C_3H_4O_3)_2$	irregular	protamine	amorphous	202
TiF ₄	octahedral cages	Cu ₂ O templates	Α	203
TiF ₄	mesoporous single crystals	SiO ₂ monodisperse spheres	А	205
titanium butoxide	hollow spheres	polystyrene spheres	А	204
TTIP	spherical particles	egg albumen proteins	Α	199
TiCl ₄	small particles	mesoporous silica	Α	206

^{*a*}R, rutile; A, anatase; B, brookite. ^{*b*}TTIP, titanium isopropoxide. ^{*c*}CTAB, cetyltrimethylammonium bromide. ^{*d*}Sol–gel (polyol) method. ^{*e*}Gel–sol method. ^{*f*}Glutamic and aspartic acids. ^{*g*}C16mimCl, 1-hexadecyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride; C4mimBF4, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate. ^{*h*}(NH₄)₂(OH)₂Ti(C₃H₄O₃)₂, titanium bis(ammonium lactato)dihydroxide. ^{*i*}Hydrothermal method in supercritical CO₂. ^{*j*}Solvothermal method (benzyl alcohol route). ^{*k*}TOPO, trioctylphosphine oxide. ^{*h*}TBPO, tributylphosphine oxide. ^{*m*}[Bmim]⁺[BF₄]⁻, 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate. ^{*n*}NP-5, polyoxyethylene-5-nonylphenyl ether. ^{*o*}PFPECOO⁻+NH₄, ammonium carboxylate perfluoropolyether; PDMAEMA-*b*-PFOMA, poly(dimethyl amino ethyl methacrylate-*block*-1H,1H,2H,2H-perfluorooctyl methacrylate. ^{*p*}Microemulsion + hydrothermal method. ^{*q*}AOT, sodium bis(2-ethylhexyl) sulfosuccinate.

2. GENERAL PRINCIPLES FOR SYNTHESIS OF TITANIA PARTICLES

2.1. Solution-Phase Synthesis of Uniform Particles

The process of formation of nanoparticles and nanocrystals is classically divided into two events: nucleation and growth.²¹ In the nucleation regime, small clusters composed of a few atoms (nuclei) are formed in the solution starting from monomers, while in the growth regime existing nuclei grow to form larger particles. Besides these two fundamental events, other processes (e.g., Ostwald ripening) can be active during any stage of particle preparation. Precautions must therefore be taken to achieve complete separation between nucleation and growth and to successfully isolate uniform nanoparticles.

The first fundamental event in the preparation of nanoparticles is nucleation. For a given system, there exists a nucleation threshold in terms of the concentration of precursors in solution, above which nuclei will spontaneously form. Thus, nucleation is driven by a supersaturation stage in which the concentration of reactive monomers overcomes this critical nucleation concentration. This process is usually induced by fast decomposition of the metallic precursor or by a sudden variation in the concentration of a reactive species that is critically involved in the chemical mechanism of particle formation. The choice of the precursor is thus very important because it determines the energetic pathway by which a monomer is activated into the active species.

When supersaturation is relieved by the formation of nuclei, the system enters the growth stage, in which no additional nuclei are formed but only existing clusters grow larger (Figure 2).²² The growth can be obtained through two main mechanisms: monomer addition from solution or Ostwald ripening. In the first case, the adsorption of a monomer onto the formed nuclei and its decomposition induces the growth. In the second case, the high surface energy of small nanocrystals allows for them to redissolve (in the presence of ligands/ adsorbed species), releasing new monomers into solution that can then redeposit onto the surface of the larger particles. It is known that if the growth of the nanocrystals occupies a large fraction of the synthesis time, these Ostwald ripening or other



Figure 2. La Mer model for nucleation and growth kinetics of nanoparticles. A narrow size distribution is favored when a fast, single nucleation event occurs, leading to nanocrystals with very similar growth processes. Reprinted with permission from ref 22. Copyright 2008 Wiley–VCH.

etching processes (digestive ripening, essentially an induced Ostwald ripening process) can allow the uniformity to be improved in a process that is usually referred to as size-focusing.^{23,24}

The temporal separation between nucleation and growth is achieved through "burst nucleation," a concept typically invoked in the solution-phase synthesis of nanoscale materials (larger particles require a different theoretical treatment).²⁵ In this process, supersaturation is achieved and relieved in a very limited time window, such that the nuclei form almost simultaneously and enter the growth stage soon after they are formed. Initial attempts to prepare monodisperse nanocrystals relied on the injection of one or more of the precursors at high temperature (hot-injection) to produce the burst nucleation by achieving a very high monomer concentration in a few seconds²⁶ (Figure 2). It has since been found that uniform nanocrystals can be produced by heating-up methods, in which burst nucleation is achieved after the rapid decomposition of precursors at a specific temperature.²⁷

In a variation, seeded-growth approaches can be used to prepare large nanocrystals or particles with different morphologies by temporally separating nucleation and growth. In this method, a solution of precursors/monomers is added to preformed nuclei at an appropriate (usually low) rate to suppress nucleation in solution and maintain monomer concentrations within the growth regime.^{28,29}

The processes described above adhere to the classical La Mer theory, but other unconventional processes including oriented attachment are also well-known in the synthesis of nanocrystals.³⁰ Since these processes do not usually play a central role in the preparation of zero-dimensional (0D) nanocrystals, we address the reader to excellent reviews on this topic.^{31–33}

2.2. Surfactants and Protecting Ligands

Small crystals (e.g., <50 nm) are typically unstable in solution because they possess a large number of surface atoms, driving them to agglomerate into larger structures to minimize surface energy. Therefore, in order to prepare small particles, surface stabilizers must be used to prevent agglomeration and to impart solubility. Stabilization with ligands can be obtained by introducing either steric or electrostatic interactions (or both) that keep the particles separated. Steric repulsion is obtained from long-chain ligands or polymers that passivate surface atoms, thus reducing free surface energy, and keep the central inorganic cores from fusing together through the formation of an "insulating" organic layer on the metal surface. Electrostatic repulsion is obtained by forming an electrical double layer of ions around the nanocrystals, which results in repulsion between the charged particles. Organic ligands and polymers that contain hydrolyzable groups provide both sterical and electrostatic stabilization simultaneously.

In addition to providing stabilization of the inorganic core, surfactants and capping ligands also play an important role in dictating the preferential growth of specific facets forming anisotropic structures or in influencing the electronic properties of the particles (e.g., in semiconductor quantum dots).³⁴ In titania, studies have revealed that the ripening and oriented attachment of particles can be influenced by the adsorption of certain ligands onto specific facets.³⁵ The choice of surfactants is therefore critical in determining and imparting the appropriate characteristics to the final nanocrystal product.³⁶ In the case of synthetic approaches in solution, the organic monolayer must also act like a "living interface", as it should allow nanocrystal growth while preventing severe agglomeration. Additionally, a specific ligand can be selected at different steps in the reaction; for example, during ligand exchange a molecule is chosen that binds the inorganic core more strongly than the existing ligand in order to drive the process forward.

Many different organic molecules can be used as surfactants and protecting ligands for nanocrystal synthesis. The most commonly used functional groups are carboxylic acids, alcohols and diols, amines, thiols, phospines, and phosphonic acids. The surfactant heteroatoms typically bind to the nanocrystal surface atoms while the alkyl groups exposed on the surface impart solubility and colloidal stability to the growing crystal. The choice of surfactant depends first of all on the type of material that is prepared. Because of the chemical nature of different atoms, some materials form stronger chemical bonds with one specific organic group more than another. As a classical example, the Brust synthesis of Au nanoparticles was made possible by the use of thiols which bind very strongly Au surfaces, therefore limiting the growth of Au nanoparticles to very small sizes.³⁷

Titania is composed of "hard" Ti(IV) cations that correspondingly bind hard ligands, in particular oxygenated ones. Carboxylic acids and diols are therefore usually strong ligands for titania, as demonstrated for the {001} facets of anatase, onto which both functional groups adsorb dissociatively.^{4,38,39} Jun et al.³⁵ studied the influence of the concentration of lauric acid in the shape evolution of anatase crystallites and found that this surfactant binds very strongly to the $\{001\}$ facets, resulting in the inhibition of growth along that facet, while trioctylphosphine oxide is essentially noninteracting. Interestingly, the mechanism of coarsening and oriented attachment of titania particles in organic solvents seems to be very similar to what is observed under hydrothermal conditions.⁴⁰ Given the commercial availability and low cost of carboxylic acids, they are the preferred surfactants used for titania nanocrystal synthesis. Clearly, other organic molecules can be more effective in chelating titanium atoms,⁴¹ but they may not be as readily available. In this respect, carboxylic acids can serve the dual function of protecting agents and also modifiers to slow down the formation of the titania lattice. As a way to catalyze the formation of the final bond network, other compounds are used during the synthesis, such as ammonia in the case of hydrothermal procedures or primary amines for reactions involving organic solvents.



Figure 3. General structure of a titanium alkoxide (R = organic groups, left), and of two commercially available and popular titanium alkoxides, titanium tetraisopropoxide (TTIP, center) and titanium *tert*-butoxide (right).

Another interesting class of organic compounds that can be used as ligands for nanoparticles and nanocrystals are polymers. The wide availability of polymers and copolymers with a range of functional groups represents an exciting way to tailor the solubility and functionality of inorganic nanostructures.⁴² Furthermore, polymers can allow the organization of nanocrystals into hierarchical architectures with precise control over the position of subunits.⁴³ Among the most commonly employed polymers for titania synthesis are those containing oxygenated and amino groups such as poly(acrylic acid) (PAA), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA), poly(vinylpyrrolidone) (PVP), and poly(amido)amines.⁴⁴ Furthermore, inspired by biomimetic approaches that organisms and plants employ to produce inorganic materials such as silicates, 45-47 several other polymers have been prepared with amine, carboxylic, and hydroxyl groups that can be used as ligands during titania synthesis.

3. TITANIUM PRECURSORS

There is a wide availability of titanium precursors, both organic and inorganic, that are useful in the preparation of titania nanocrystals. In this section we report a list of the most commonly used precursors in titania synthesis and some of their properties.

3.1. Titanium Alkoxides

Alkoxides are compounds with general formula $Ti(OR)_4$, with R representing an organic group. The most common (and commercially available) titanium alkoxides are titanium isopropoxide [TTIP; R = CH(CH₃)₂], titanium butoxide (R = CH₂CH₂CH₂CH₃), and titanium *tert*-butoxide [R = C(CH₃)₃] (Figure 3).

Titanium alkoxides are among the most used precursors in the preparation of titania nanocrystals, particularly in the solgel method, because of their versatility and well-studied chemistry.⁴⁹ They are very reactive due to the Lewis acidity of the Ti(IV) center, which makes it very susceptible to nucleophilic attack, for example by water. The mechanism of the hydrolysis of titanium alkoxides depends on the reaction conditions, in particular on pH, but it generally involves the nucleophilic addition of a water molecule onto the Ti center followed by proton transfer from the water molecule to a coordinating ligand during a transition state, and the final removal of the protonated ligand in the form of an alcohol molecule. The fully hydrolyzed product is Ti(OH)₄.⁵ However, under controlled conditions, hydrolysis and condensation result in the formation of Ti-O-Ti bonds from alkoxides through the following reactions (eqs 1-3):⁵¹

$$\equiv M - OH + HO - M \equiv \rightarrow \equiv M - O - M \equiv + H_2 O \tag{2}$$

$$\equiv M - OR + HO - M \equiv \rightarrow \equiv M - O - M \equiv + ROH$$
(3)

The theoretical coordination number of the Ti center in common alkoxides is 4, but it can easily expand to 6 through the formation of oxo bridges or complexes. Being highly reactive toward water, titanium alkoxides are very sensitive to humidity and must be carefully handled to avoid premature hydrolysis, which can compromise the synthesis. Advantageously, for the same reason alkoxy groups can be easily replaced by diols, β -diketonates, carboxylic acids, amines, or other organic groups such as cyclooctatetraene (COT),⁵² resulting in the formation of complexes whose reactivity can be better tailored and controlled. These complexes are often polynuclear, with the nuclearity depending on the reaction conditions, and have been studied in detail because of their potential use in several other applications, including chemical vapor deposition (CVD) procedures.⁵³ These modified precursors can show markedly different reactivity than the parental alkoxides in sol-gel-type reactions.⁵⁴ Furthermore, they can alter the condensation pathway, leading to the formation of different phases by guiding the bonding of the octahedral TiO₆ units.

3.2. Titanium Halides (TiCl₄ and TiF₄)

TiCl₄ is obtained in high purity as intermediate compound after thermochemical treatment of upgraded titanium-containing ores with chlorine gas and carbon. It is subsequently oxidized at high temperature in the gas phase to obtain high-quality titania.⁵⁵ TiCl₄ is very reactive to water and oxygen, forming titanium hydroxide and releasing HCl and Cl₂ gases, respectively, and must therefore be handled carefully. TiF₄ is a more stable compound that can be handled under standard conditions. Although also commercially available, TiCl₃ and TiF₃ are much less commonly used in the synthesis of titania nanocrystals. TiCl₃ is well-known, however, because of its use for the preparation of polyolefins (Ziegler–Natta catalyst).

TiCl₄ is widely used for titania synthesis. In sol-gel and hydrothermal reaction conditions, it easily undergoes hydrolysis in contact with water, forming titanium chlorohydroxy complexes and titanium hydroxide and releasing HCl. It is also used in nonhydrolytic types of synthesis. This precursor is suitable for these reactions because chloride is a good leaving group in nucleophilic substitution-type reactions. Two main reactions produce titania from nonhydrolytic cleavage of the Ti-X bond: the alkoxide route (eq 4) and the ether route (eq 5): 56

$$\equiv M - OR + H_2O \rightarrow \equiv M - OH + ROH$$
(1)

$$MCl_n + M(OR)_n \rightarrow 2MO_{n/2} + nRCl$$
 (4)

Both reactions are very slow at room temperature, and generally temperatures between 80 and 150 $^{\circ}$ C are required to obtain reasonable rates and crystalline products. NMR studies revealed that numerous reactions are involved, with an initial redistribution of the ligands around the titanium centers and the formation of intermediate oxochloroalkoxides that autocatalyze the reaction.⁵⁶ Furthermore, the ether route was found to lead to a faster formation of the gel compared to the alkoxide route.

TiF₄ has seen much less use in titania synthesis until recently, since there has been a burst of interest in the preparation of anatase titania particles with exposed {001} high-energy facets.⁵⁷ These facets, which represent a small percentage of the entire exposed surface in the most thermodynamically stable morphology of anatase, have been suggested as potentially more reactive than the {101} facets that usually dominate in anatase nanocrystals.^{58,59} It has been found that fluoride can strongly bind the {001} facets at the exposed 5-fold coordinated Ti cations, reducing their surface energy and allowing growth to occur on the {101} facets.^{57,59} Most of the early syntheses utilized HF as the structure-directing agent, but HF is very corrosive and dangerous to handle. TiF₄, on the other hand, is a stable compound that has been postulated to dissociate at high temperature in the presence of carboxylic acids into HF and titanium complexes, similarly to what is observed with TiCl4.

3.3. Titanatranes

Atrane compounds are metal complexes that are formed by complexation of a metal or semimetal with triethanolamine. Common atranes include those of silicon, tin, and phosphorus. Titanium atranes (titanatranes) were first described some time ago^{63} but have only been studied in detail in the last two decades^{64,65} in connection with their potential use in the preparation of fine titania particles,⁶⁶ homogeneous catalysts,^{67,68} and mesoporous materials.⁶⁹ Triethanolamine acts as a chelating ligand, with the three alkoxy groups coordinating to the central atom and incorporation of a transannular N–Ti bond. This type of bonding results in high stability toward hydrolysis. In addition, the ability of triethanolamine to chelate with the titanium center helps to displace ligands present in common titanium precursors, such as alkoxide groups, halides, and amides. The preparation of titanatranes from these precursors is thus straightforward. Figure 4 reports the



Figure 4. Scheme of a monomeric titanatrane derived from a titanium alkoxide (where R is an organic group).

simplistic structure of a monomeric titanatrane; in many cases, the triethanolamine ligand can act as a multidentate ligand (depending on the Ti/triethanolamine ratio), resulting in the formation of oligo- and polymeric atranes.⁷⁰

3.4. Titanium Metal and Carboxylate-Derived Compounds

Titanium metal is resistant to dilute acids but it can be dissolved in NH_3/H_2O_2 mixtures to form a titanium oxohydroxy complex. This compound is then amenable for

further modification with hydroxy acids such as glycolic acid⁷¹ or citric,⁷² malic, tartaric, or lactic acid (see below).^{73,74}

3.5. Titanium(IV) Bis(ammoniumlactato) Dihydroxide

This precursor of formula $(NH_4)_2(OH)_2Ti(C_3H_4O_3)_2$ is a water-soluble compound that is more stable toward hydrolysis than the common alkoxides due to the chelating lactate group. The Ti ion possesses an octahedral coordination in this compound, which also accounts for its higher stability compared to titanium alkoxides. It is commercially available and is purchased as an aqueous solution at a pH of about 8. It can be hydrolyzed in the presence of strong acids or bases to form TiO₂, in addition to NH₃ and lactic acid (or lactate salts) as byproducts. It has also been employed for the preparation of nanocrystalline titania thin films.^{75–77}

3.6. Titanium Sulfate and Oxysulfate

Titanium sulfate $[Ti(SO_4)_2]$ can be obtained in large quantities by dissolving titania ores (such as ilmenite and rutile) with H_2SO_4 .⁵⁵ It is a water-soluble precursor that has been shown to produce all the three titania polymorphs under hydrothermal conditions, with a preference for anatase.⁷⁸ Complexation with oxalate produces rutile powders at room temperature or brookite by decomposition at 300 °C. Titanium oxysulfate (TiOSO₄) has been shown to produce pure anatase powders by precipitation with NaOH at pH 4–6.⁷⁹

3.7. Oxobis(2,4-pentanedionato-O,O')titanium [TiO(acac)₂]

This compound is commercially available and stable in water and is used in hydrothermal preparation of titania powders.^{80,81}

4. AQUEOUS METHODS

When titania is prepared through aqueous methods, as in the case of most transition metal oxides, the Ti-O-Ti bond network is formed in two steps: hydrolysis and condensation.⁸² The hydrolysis step results in the formation of a metal complex with water in the form of aquo, hydroxo, or oxo complexes, depending on the metal cation and the reaction conditions. Condensation is the reaction between two (or more) of the formed complexes to give the Ti-O-Ti bonds, which are the precursors of the final oxide network. After condensation, oxolation can also occur with the formation of additional oxo bridges between metal fragments through nucleophilic addition. Usually this step is accompanied by water elimination, so that the final Ti-O-Ti bond is formed. These two processes can show very different rates at different pH values. For example, at neutral pH, condensation rates are much faster than hydrolysis rates by 4 orders of magnitude, so that condensation occurs as soon as titanium precursors are hydrolyzed. Under certain conditions, however, these processes can be slow such that catalysts are often added to promote the formation of the bonding network. Commonly used catalysts are acids and bases that promote hydrolysis by either increasing dehydroxylation (a water molecule is removed from a Ti-OH group) or deprotonation (a OH⁻ attacks a Ti center to form a Ti-OH bond). A salt formed by pairing a weak acid and base can also work as a condensation catalyst, as shown in the case of ammonium carbonate or ammonium acetate.⁸³

4.1. Sol-Gel Methods

Sol-gel methods are widely used to prepare ceramic materials such as metal oxides, nitrides, and carbides.^{84,85} The process involves the transformation of a sol into a gel, which is then usually thermally treated to obtain the final material. Sols are solutions of the precursor compounds (either inorganic or



Figure 5. Electron micrographs of rutile titanium dioxide sol particles obtained by sol–gel synthesis at different ratios of TiCl₄/HCl/Na₂SO₄. Reprinted with permission from ref 87. Copyright 1977 Elsevier.

metal-organic), which in the case of titania are typically transparent. Following a series of chemical reactions and/or thermal treatments, the precursors react to form a network of bonds, resulting in a solid skeleton of metal-oxygen bonds within a continuous liquid phase. At this point the structure is called a gel. Gels can also be formed by particulate materials, when attractive dispersion forces cause the particles to stick together, forming a continuous network. As this process occurs in the presence of water, the hydrolysis and condensation reactions generally occur very fast and the control over the size, shape, and dispersibility of the particles is thus poor. Furthermore, sol-gel processes usually result in materials that are amorphous or poorly crystalline because they are produced at or near room temperature, although some methods have been developed that avoid this issue.86 Therefore, a thermal treatment is generally needed to transform the dried gel into the final desired material. For this reason, these methods also do not typically result in stable colloidal particles. However, they have inspired many variations that do provide colloidally stable particles, as for example in the gel-sol method.

In early examples, titania particle size obtained through this method was several hundreds of nanometers. For example, Matijević et al.⁸⁷ described the preparation of uniform titania spheres by hydrolysis of $TiCl_4$ in highly acidic solutions (through addition of HCl) containing sulfate ions and then aging of this solution for long periods of time (days or weeks) (Figure 5).

These authors were able to prepare rutile-phase spheres at low sulfate/titanium ratios and mixed rutile-anatase phase spheres at higher ratios. A mechanism of particle size control was described by the authors in terms of the rates of hydrolysis and condensation. At high pH, hydrolysis was too fast and produced particles with poor uniformity. On the other hand, under the highly acidic conditions used in the study, hydroxylation could occur only at elevated temperatures, such that the reaction could be controlled efficiently at room temperature. Furthermore, they observed that the presence of sulfate ions was critical during the formation of uniform particles, but sulfate was not present in the final products. The authors propose that these ions bind strongly to titanium ions during growth, therefore limiting the hydrolysis rate and providing a constant concentration of monomers in solution, which lead to uniform, linear growth at elevated temperature.

Similar uniform micrometer-size particles were prepared by Barringer and Bowen⁸⁸ through the fast hydrolysis of titanium ethoxide or isopropoxide precursors. The most important step in their preparation was the promotion of homogeneous nucleation during hydrolysis and uniform growth of the nuclei by guaranteeing colloidal stability to the growing particles. If small particles flocculated during the growth stage, this produced multinuclear particles that were nonuniform. The uniform particles could be self-assembled into ordered superlattice structures by sedimentation, which displayed interesting iridescent properties when organized in cubic close-packed arrays. Porous and nonporous monodisperse spheres were reported more recently by a similar procedure but with addition of polymers to promote the pore formation.⁸⁹

More recently, titania particle size was controlled in smaller size regimes. Morales et al.⁹⁰ studied the hydrolysis of titanium ethoxide in the presence of hydrolyzing agents. These authors investigated the consequences of adding several acids and bases as additives during the synthesis and found some contradictory results. Use of HCl at mild acidic pH resulted in the isolation of crystalline particles containing all three phases of titania. On the other hand, use of oxalic acid or ammonium hydroxide caused the formation of mainly amorphous titania phase. In another report, in the presence of 0.1 M HNO₃ and titanium butoxide, 3.3 nm anatase particles are obtained.⁹¹ By use of HCl at higher concentration, elongated rutile particles were formed. The acidity of the medium and the counterions are therefore equally important for development of the desired particle size and shape. It is, however, hard to explain the preparation of titania of one phase versus another: the many parameters involved in the synthesis do not allow a straightforward prediction.

One of the main problems faced in sol-gel chemistry is proper control of the hydrolysis and condensation rates of titanium precursors, which are usually too fast because of the presence of water and catalysts in solution. An attractive way to overcome this issue is to modify the precursor with complexing ligands that reduce the hydrolysis rate. Scolan and Sanchez⁹²



0.2 µm

Figure 6. Effect of ammonia concentration on the shape and size of TiO_2 particles prepared by a gel-sol method. Ammonia concentrations in suspension were (a) 0, (b) 0.50, (c) 1.0, and (d) 2.0 M, where the initial pH values were (a) 9.5, (b) 10.8, (c) 11.3, and (d) 11.6 at room temperature. Reprinted with permission from ref 104. Copyright 1997 Elsevier.

used acetylacetone as such a ligand and conducted the hydrolysis in the presence of *p*-toluenesulfonic acid to obtain crystalline, dispersible anatase nanoparticles (1-5 nm). The dispersibility of the resulting particles in water—ethanol mixtures was promoted by the surface capping of acetylacetonato ligands and a mixed layer of *p*-toluenesulfonic acid and water molecules, as demonstrated by solid-state NMR. Khanna et al.⁹³ similarly used myristic acid to prepare 5 nm anatase nanocrystals with colloidal stability. Jiu et al.^{94,95} used a combination of the surfactants F127 and CTAB to drive the hydrolysis of TTIP modified by acetylacetone. However, in this case, anatase particles of 3-5 nm in size were obtained only after calcination at 450 °C to promote crystallization.

In order to improve the crystalline morphology of sol–gelprepared particles while avoiding high-temperature postsynthetic treatments such as calcination, which typically preclude colloidal stability, several methods have been reported including ultrasound irradiation⁹⁶ and dissolution–precipitation procedures with aging at temperatures between 25 and 220 °C.⁹⁷ Another interesting strategy consists of the addition of salts and polymers to improve crystallinity and crystal shape and structure control. As reported by Han et al.,⁹⁸ hydrolysis of TTIP in a solution of NaCl and Pluronic P123 produced anatase nanocrystals of about 6 nm in size that were nonaggregated and crystalline. The use of CH₃COOH as catalyst produced anatase nanorods while HCl resulted in rutile particles, in agreement with other studies cited above.

The polyol method has emerged in recent years as a suitable alternative to the sol–gel method to obtain crystalline particles at moderate temperatures. Initially developed for metal and alloy nanoparticles, it was then extended to oxides⁹⁹ and is based on the reaction between a polyalcohol and a metal salt. Amorphous niobia and niobium double oxides were among the first oxide materials prepared with this method.¹⁰⁰ More recently, titania particles were prepared by this method by first heating TTIP in diethylene glycol (DEG) at 140 °C, followed by addition of water and increasing the temperature up to 180 °C, resulting in irregular anatase crystallites 30–200 nm in size that exhibited dispersibility in DEG.¹⁰¹ Similarly, titanium butoxide was thermally decomposed in 1,4-butanediol at 300



Figure 7. (Left) Transmission electron micrograph of titania/Me₄N⁺ nanocrystals self-assembled into a superlattice with dimensions on the order of micrometers; the power spectrum (inset) confirms the long-range translational and orientational order of the superlattice. (Right) High magnification shows well-faceted hexagonal nanocrystals. Reproduced with permission from ref 111. Copyright 1999 Wiley–VCH.

 $^{\circ}$ C to yield anatase particles of 15 nm. 102 However, the particle size and shape was not much controlled.

In another variation of the classical sol-gel method, in the early 1990s Sugimoto and Sakata¹⁰³ developed the so-called "gel-sol" method. Originally applied to the preparation of α - Fe_2O_3 particles,¹⁰³ it is based on the preparation of a metal hydroxide gel that is then aged to obtain a sol in which colloidal particles are dispersed. By this technique, colloidal dispersions of titania particles can also be produced. To do that, these authors started with a titanium-triethanolamine complex (titanatrane) that was useful to slow the hydrolysis rate. The complex was dissolved in aqueous ammonia and heated at 100 °C to form the initial gel composed mainly of titanium hydroxide. No titania formation was observed up to this point. The gel was then aged at 140 °C for 3 days, producing anatase particles with roughly spherical or spindlelike morphology depending on the pH of the initial solution (Figure 6).¹⁰⁴ These authors stated that ammonia (or primary amines) acted as the shape-directing agent, causing elongation of the particle by adsorption onto the crystal planes parallel to the *c*-axis of the particles. However, higher concentrations of ammonia inhibited the formation of particles, probably because of the formation of solution titanium hydroxide aquo complexes. This is related to the mechanism of anatase formation, which is postulated to start from a $Ti(OH)_3^+$ intermediate that reacts with $Ti(OH)_4$ to form TiO₂; at high ammonia contents, the concentration of $Ti(OH)_{3}^{+}$ species is too low to induce nucleation by this pathway.⁵⁰ In an extension of the same procedure, these authors demonstrated shape control by using different amino acids as protecting ligands; in this case, elongation along the caxis was promoted by glutamic or aspartic acid.¹⁰⁵

Sol-gel methods have been reported to provide access to the $TiO_2(B)$ phase. In particular, the use of ionic liquids with tetrafluoroborate ions efficiently produced phase-pure $TiO_2(B)$ particles in good yield.¹⁰⁶ However, these particles are not well dispersible but rather agglomerated to form mesoporous secondary particles consisting of smaller ones. Although the initial procedure claimed that the concentration of BF_4^- ions was crucial for obtaining $TiO_2(B)$ phase, a more recent report showed the ionic liquid concentration to be a more important parameter.¹⁰⁷ The authors then postulated that the interactions between titanium ions in solution and ionic liquid molecules

can induce the formation of micelles that induce the formation of titania in the $TiO_2(B)$ polymorph.

As mentioned in the Introduction, sol-gel methods are easy procedures to obtain titania particles in solution. However, poor crystallinity and control over phase and size distribution prompted researchers to study alternative methods of synthesis. One of these methods is hydrothermal, which is presented in section 4.2.

4.2. Hydrothermal Methods

Similarly to sol-gel methods, most hydrothermal approaches do not provide materials with tailored properties such as solubility, uniformity, and processability. In particular, in the absence of surfactants/protecting agents, the resulting particles are generally not soluble in common polar or apolar solvents. Nevertheless, the crystallinity of the particles is usually much improved compared to sol-gel methods, and for some applications where dispersibility is not required, these materials can be very useful, and hydrothermal methods require few steps. Typically, bases such as ammonia or alkaline hydroxides are employed to form a titanium hydroxide intermediate, which is then dehydrated to titania under the applied hydrothermal reaction conditions at relatively high temperatures (usually between 150 and 250 °C). Several factors, such as pH, temperature, presence of "mineralizers" (typically, inorganic compounds that are claimed to be important for the preparation of several materials by mechanisms that are not well understood),¹⁰⁸ and stirring¹⁰⁹ of the solution are pivotal in controlling not only the morphology of the crystallites but also the phase. Reaction time is also important in determining the final morphology of the particles, as the crystals can proceed through intermediate, metastable states before reaching the final equilibrium morphology.¹¹⁰

In one of the earliest attempts to manipulate titania crystal shape by hydrothermal methods, Chemseddine and Moritz¹¹¹ hydrolyzed titanium alkoxide in the presence of quarternary ammonium hydroxide bases to obtain anatase crystals with hexagonal, rectangular, and rodlike morphology. A precipitate was obtained after reaction of titanium alkoxide with water and base at room temperature, which was then redissolved after reflux of the solution, and titania particles eventually formed. Formation of anatase crystals was rationalized on the basis of a number of steps including hydrolysis, condensation, and



Figure 8. TEM images of brookite nanoparticles dispersible in both hydrophilic and hydrophobic environments such as (a) water and (b) cyclohexane, synthesized by hydrothermal treatment in the presence of sodium oleate. Inset photographs show that the synthesized nanoparticles exhibit excellent dispersibility in both solutions. Reprinted with permission from ref 123. Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.

polymerization of the several titanium—oxygen species that are formed during the reaction. These authors argue that the basic building unit consisted of octahedral clusters where titanium atoms were coordinated to six oxygen species (similar to the basic structure of titania polymorphs reported in the Introduction). These clusters then share oxygen corners in a manner determined by the nature of the oxygen groups and the presence of stabilizing molecules. The stabilizing role of quaternary ammonium cations on the {101} facets was evident from the fact that by increasing the concentration, these authors were able to grow the particle along the [001] direction, resulting in rodlike structures. At an appropriate alkoxide/base ratio, very uniform, well-faceted hexagonal nanocrystals were formed that self-assembled to give 2D superlattices (Figure 7).

Another early example of shape control via hydrothermal treatment is the preparation of titania nanotubes by treating titania powders in 10 M NaOH at 110 °C.^{112,113} The nanotubes are ~8 nm in diameter and >100 nm in length, and recent studies revealed that the crystal structure is more properly described as a titanate phase.¹¹⁴ Na⁺ (and H⁺) ions were postulated to direct the formation of the tubular structures by stabilizing the [TiO₆] octahedral layers that are produced during the synthesis.¹¹⁵ Interest in titanate nanotubes arises from the fact that they are widely used as precursors for other structures under hydrothermal conditions. For example, anatase titania nanorods, ^{116,117} very thin sheets, ¹¹⁸ or a variety of elongated or compact shapes have been reported by transforming titanate nanotubes at different temperatures and pH, and with different additives.¹¹⁹ Similarly, lamellar protonated titanates, in combination with HF, can be converted into small anatase crystals with a platelet morphology and exposed {001} facets.120

A recent investigation analyzed the effect of alkali salts on the shape of titania particles prepared by a hydrothermal process starting also from titanate nanotubes.¹²¹ The particles were all anatase but the samples prepared in the presence of lithium ions exhibited a bipyramidal shape, while use of larger alkali ions like sodium and potassium caused the particles to evolve into more elongated, needlelike shapes. High-resolution (HR) TEM analysis suggested that the growth of the structures occurred along the $\langle 001 \rangle$ direction and exposed the $\{301\}$ facets. The authors rationalized this result by invoking a mechanism in which small, positive Li⁺ ions interact with surface and subsurface oxygen atoms in the lattice, slowing down the growth rate of all facets and resulting in low aspect ratio particles. In contrast, large K⁺ ions interact favorably only with the top oxygen atoms, resulting in faster growing rates in

the $\langle 001 \rangle$ direction and leading to subsequent $\{301\}$ facets exposed in the final products.

Hydrothermal treatments can also be used to transform the titanate nanotubes into pure brookite nanocrystals in concentrated (2 M) HClO_4 solution.¹²² The acid anion was found to be important in determining the final phase of the material, as Cl^- and NO_3^- induced the formation of rutile rather than brookite after prolonged hydrothermal treatments. However, Deng et al.¹¹⁵ reported a similar procedure but claimed that only under strongly basic conditions did the anatase tubes convert into pure phase brookite, in the presence of Na⁺ cations. Brookite particles were also obtained starting from a titanium glycolate complex and using H₂SO₄ under hydrothermal conditions.⁸¹ It was found that the concentration of the acid played a key role in the formation of pure brookite particles; rutile was favored at lower concentrations and anatase at higher ones.

Brookite nanoparticles were obtained by starting with titanium glycolate and using sodium oleate as an additive during the synthesis.¹²³ The particle phase was particularly sensitive to the amount of additive in the synthesis: a relatively low or high amount favored anatase formation, while brookite was produced at intermediate concentrations of sodium oleate. The particles obtained in this way were dispersible in both polar and nonpolar solvents (Figure 8), probably due to the formation of a sodium oleate double layer that allowed the particles to switch from hydrophobic to hydrophilic monolayer coating depending on the conditions, as proven by ζ -potential measurements.

Basic hydrothermal conditions generally favor the formation of brookite nanoparticles. Large brookite rods (length ~300 nm and diameter ~50 nm) were prepared by hydrothermal treatment of TiOSO₄ in the presence of sodium hydroxide.¹²⁴ Pure brookite particles were also prepared by hydrothermal treatment of a particular titanium glycolate—peroxo complex whose crystal structure resembled that of brookite base units.⁷¹ Indeed, in a series of experiments these authors found that the only hydroxycarboxylic acid that resulted in brookite was glycolic acid at pH 10.⁷³

When TiCl₄ is utilized as a titanium precursor under hydrothermal conditions, very different titania materials can be obtained, the morphology and phase of which depends on the synthesis parameters. When TiCl₄ is reacted with water, the species $[Ti(OH)_n Cl_m (H_2O)_{6-n-m}]^{(n+m-4)-}$ is present in solution, with *n* and *m* depending on the conditions. An interplay exists between solution pH, presence of counterions, and temperature, which determines the nature of the titanium complex in solution that is transformed into titania. pH directly affects *n*, while the concentration of Cl^{-} (for example, by addition of a second source of this anion) directly influences *m*. At moderately acidic pH, rutile particles can be prepared and addition of Cl⁻ (by addition of NaCl) results in anisotropic growth, yielding rods.¹²⁵ In highly concentrated HCl solutions, TiCl₄ is likely transformed into the neutral molecule ${\rm Ti}({\rm OH})_2{\rm Cl}_2({\rm H}_2{\rm O})_2$ that appears to be a precursor for the formation of brookite.¹²⁶ Precipitation of $TiCl_4$ with ammonia and hydrothermal/solvothermal treatment at 250 °C leads to cubiclike anatase particles.¹²⁷ The presence of other acids can also influence the synthesis. Aruna et al.¹⁰⁹ reported the preparation of 20 nm rutile particles by hydrolysis of TTIP in HNO₃ solution at 250 °C in the absence of other compounds. These authors claim that vigorous stirring of the solution during hydrothermal treatment is fundamental for achieving the pure rutile phase. Under similar conditions, in the presence of ethanol, Chae et al.⁶ prepared anatase nanocrystals where the particle size decreased by 5 times when the ethanol concentration was increased.

Anions can also dramatically influence the size, shape, and phase composition of titania prepared through hydrothermal methods. A comprehensive study looking at this effect was recently reported by Liu et al.¹²⁸ Anatase octahedral particles of about 20 nm in size were obtained by hydrothermal treatment of Ti(OH)₄ in a water/2-propanol mixture. Rutile rods (100-200 nm) were obtained when ammonium oxalate was added, while brookite particles (60-80 nm) were recovered when lactate salts were used. F⁻ anions caused the anatase particles to become truncated to expose larger $\{001\}$ facets, while SO_4^{2-} and acetate anions led to the formation of rods. Interestingly, all three of the phases and the different shapes evolved from similar anatase seeds formed at early stages of the hydrothermal treatment, implying that the anions may bind to particular facets of the seeds and thus direct further growth. Gai et al.¹²⁹ conducted a similar study but started from several titanium precursors $[Ti(SO_4)_2, titanium butoxide, TiCl_4, and TiF_4]$ in combination with hydrazine. In their case, TiCl₄ resulted in elongated structures (rods of up to 130 nm in length), whereas $Ti(SO_4)_2$ and TiF_4 produced bipyramidal anatase particles, and titanium butoxide led to irregular precipitates. Interestingly, SO4²⁻ and F⁻ anions were found to preserve the pure anatase phase, while Cl⁻ and butoxide anions resulted in the formation of mixed phases. This fact was attributed by the authors to formation of an initial titanate precursor that was then dissolved under basic conditions to titanate octahedral units, which were reassembled to form the final products. The strength with which the anion binds the Ti⁴⁺ cations on the growing titanate surface then determines the formation of one morphology over another. Jiao et al.¹³⁰ also reported on the use of sodium phosphate (Na_3PO_4) as additive to produce octahedral crystals and hollow structures and proposed a shift of the valence and conduction band in these structures.

Small, uniform anatase nanocrystals were produced by hydrothermal treatment of titanium bis(ammoniumlactato) dihydroxide.¹³¹ The particle size could be controlled between 2 and 5 nm by changing the reaction temperature in the range 120–300 °C. Lactic acid, produced by the hydrolysis of the titanium precursor, was suggested as being responsible for maintaining a small particle size by strongly adsorbing to the surface of the growing titania crystallites. The final particle size is directly linked to the temperature at which the reaction is conducted, suggesting a link to the thermodynamics of the Ti–

lactic acid bond on the surface of the crystals. In a similar procedure, the use of urea was shown to have a profound effect onto the obtained titania phase. Low concentrations of urea during hydrothermal treatment led Kandiel et al.¹³² to obtain mainly small anatase nanoparticles, but at higher concentrations brookite rods were the main product. This effect can be related to the hydrolysis process that urea undergoes in aqueous solutions at temperatures above 90 °C. The slow release of OH⁻ during this process raises the pH and influences the way the titanium octahedral units arrange to form the final phase (see Introduction). By systematically varying the reaction conditions and isolating the products at different reaction times, the authors suggested that there was no phase transformation during the synthesis. Instead, direct formation of either anatase or brookite seeds under the specified conditions was responsible for obtaining anatase particles or brookite rods (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Suggested reaction pathways for the hydrolysis of titanium bis(ammoniumlactato) dihydroxide in the presence of varying concentrations of urea to form either anatase particles or brookite rods or mixtures thereof. Reprinted with permission from ref 132. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society.

The most thermodynamically stable shape of anatase crystals is bipyramidal, due to the low energy of the {101} facets. HF was recently discovered to bind selectively to the {001} facets, preferentially exposing this facet in the resulting crystals. This effect was clearly demonstrated by Liu et al.,¹³³ who exploited the hydrolysis and hydrothermal treatment of titanium butoxide in water/H₂O₂ solution at different concentrations of HF. Small, spherical anatase nanoparticles were obtained when no HF was added to the solution; but at increasing amounts of HF, truncated structures exhibiting high percentages of {001} facets were observed with a roughly 100 nm edge length (Figure 10).

Hydrothermal synthesis in combination with HF was also used to prepare hollow microspheres formed by nanocrystals with mainly exposed {001} facets starting from titanium powder, HF, and H_2O_2 (Figure 11).¹³⁴



Figure 10. Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) images of TiO_2 nanostructures obtained by hydrothermal treatment of titanium butoxide with varying amounts of HF and H₂O₂ added: (A) 1 mL of HF; (B) 1.0 mL of HF and 6.0 mL of H₂O₂; (C) 0.5 mL of HF and 6.0 mL of H₂O₂; (D) 6.0 mL of H₂O₂. Reprinted with permission from ref 133. Copyright 2013 Elsevier.



Figure 11. Hollow microspheres prepared by hydrothermal treatment and HF. (a) XRD pattern; (b) low-magnification SEM image, with a broken microsphere and TEM image in top and bottom insets; (c) SEM image showing the nanoplates forming the hollow structures; (d) TEM image of a single anatase plate with the HRTEM image (bottom inset) and the corresponding fast-Fourier transform (FFT) pattern (top inset). Reprinted with permission from ref 134. Copyright 2012 Elsevier.

Interestingly, these structures evolved during the synthesis, initially forming solid spheres with smooth surfaces and transforming to hollow, {001}-exposed samples after prolonged hydrothermal treatment, suggesting a redistribution of the titania crystals from the interior to the exterior of the structures, indicative of the Kirkendall effect. This effect might be driven by the presence of H_2O_2 in combination with F^- (see below).

Similar structures were prepared from titanium powder and HF.¹³⁵ In this case, however, the structures were not hollow, demonstrating the important role of H_2O_2 in the above-

Chemical Reviews

mentioned case to create the hollow structures. The growth of titania spheres in this case was found to start with flower-like structures with exposed {101} facets. The slow hydrolysis of H_2TiF_6 then produced HF which promotes the faster growth of the {001} facets and almost completely replace the {101} facets by the end of the hydrothermal process (Figure 12).



Figure 12. Field emission (FE) SEM images of hierarchical nanospheres obtained at different reaction times: (a) 0, (b) 0.5, (c) 1, (d) 3, (e) 5, (f) 7, (g) 10, and (h) 15 h. (Insets) High-magnification SEM images. Also, schematic illustration of the formation of hierarchical titania spheres with exposed $\{001\}$ facets is shown. Reproduced with permission from ref 135. Copyright 2012 Wiley–VCH.

Liu et al.¹³⁶ started from Ti(SO₄)₂ to prepare nanocrystalline anatase with exposed {001} facets. Nanoplates were prepared by starting from titanium isopropoxide.¹³⁷ Increasing the amount of HF usually grows larger {001} facets but with the result that nanocrystals also grow in size (Figure 13).¹³⁸

In order to avoid the use of the very dangerous HF, Dai et al.¹³⁹ manipulated the structure of titania nanocrystals via a complex method beginning with formation of an amorphous titania species embedded within PVP fibers. The precursor is



Figure 13. TEM images of TiO_2 nanosheets synthesized at (A, B) 180 °C and (C, D) 200 °C with increasing amounts of hydrofluoric acid. A larger amount of HF results in larger nanocrystals. Reprinted with permission from ref 138. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society.

formed by electrospinning titanium isopropoxide and PVP and treating the obtained nanocomposite precursor under hydrothermal conditions, with acetic acid used to control the pH. At the moderately acidic pH of 1.6, bipyramidal nanocrystals form with a main axis of about 20 nm. The amount of exposed $\{001\}$ facets, however, is quite low (less than 10%). The authors claim that the electrospinning process was essential to obtain nanocrystals with uniform shapes. At pH lower than 1.6, the growth of {001} facets was suppressed, while at higher pH, oriented attachment favored elimination of the high-energy facet. These authors explain the results by suggesting that the PVP molecules may bind preferentially to the {001} facets within a specific pH window around 1.6. Additionally, presence of the acetate ion was also found to be crucial for obtaining the morphology, as other inorganic acids such as nitric, sulfuric, or hydrochloric acid produced large aggregates. In another attempt to step away from HF, Ma et al.¹⁴⁰ started with TiF_4 and obtained microparticles in which nanosheets possessing {001} facets extended outward from the surface. Most likely, TiF₄ decomposition evolved HF or F⁻ in situ, which controlled the shape of the titania crystallites.

An interesting variation of the hydrothermal treatment utilizes supercritical fluids as solvents. These types of solvents are attractive because they have characteristics that are typical of gases (diffusivity, viscosity etc.) but solvation capabilities and densities that are typical of liquids. Supercritical CO_2 , in particular, has received attention recently as a green solvent. Wang et al.¹⁴¹ used it in combination with ethanol and water under hydrothermal-like conditions (120 °C, 150 bar) to obtain well-crystallized anatase nanocrystals about 5 nm in size.



Figure 14. (a) TEM image of anatase TiO_2 nanobipyramids prepared under solvothermal conditions at 250 °C for 24 h with a molar ratio of titanium butoxide to NaF of 5:2. (b) XRD pattern of the as-prepared TiO_2 nanobipyramids. (c, d) HRTEM images of nanobipyramids. (Inset) Schematic model of a typical nanobipyramid. Reprinted with permission from ref 151. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society.

5. NONAQUEOUS METHODS

In nonaqueous methods, water is not used as the primary reaction solvent, such that titania can form through mechanisms other than hydrolysis and condensation. The terms nonaqueous sol-gel and nonhydrolytic sol-gel were coined early on and continue to be used to describe the synthesis of oxide nanocrystals when water is not included as a reactant, although they are not always well-distinguished in the literature. Nonhydrolytic sol-gel describes reactions in which an oxide forms without any involvement from water, through reactions with oxygen-containing organic molecules, while in nonaqueous sol-gel processes, hydrolysis occurs through reactions with water produced in situ.¹⁴² The term "sol method" has also been applied to this class of reactions, although the origin of this term is not entirely clear. Commonly observed mechanisms for titania formation under these conditions include the following (see also section 3): 51,143 (1) alkyl halide or ether elimination by cross-reactions between different titanium precursors to form Ti-O-Ti and elimination of the remaining precursor structure, such as between titanium halides and titanium alkoxides; (2) thermal decomposition of oxygen-containing precursors in which the oxygen atom is incorporated in the final product and there is elimination of an unsaturated organic compound (such as alkene) from the remaining part of the precursor structure; and (3) reactions that form water (or another activated form of water) in situ,

such as esterification or aminolysis by reaction of a metal carboxylate precursor with an $alcohol^{144}$ or an amine.¹⁴⁵

It is important to note that, without careful study, it is often unclear whether water is produced during a given reaction, so the terms nonaqueous sol-gel and nonhydrolytic sol-gel are often used interchangeably. One proposed advantage of the nonaqueous approaches is better control over reaction rates than is possible in sol-gel chemistry, where hydrolysis typically occurs very quickly and is difficult to modulate.¹⁴⁶ When water is not present or produced in situ, hydrolysis and condensation can generally be better controlled because these reactions occur much more slowly. Additionally, the inclusion of surfactants and organic ligands (which are sparingly soluble in aqueousbased mixtures) has provided additional tools to tune the reactivity of the precursors resulting in unprecedented control over the morphology of titania nanocrystals. For the purposes of this review, we separate nonaqueous synthetic approaches into two categories: (1) solvothermal, which are those conducted in an autoclave with nonaqueous primary solvents at elevated pressures, similar to hydrothermal methods, and (2) nonaqueous surfactant-assisted, which are conducted at or near atmospheric pressure by conventional air-free Schlenk line techniques.

5.1. Solvothermal Methods

Solvothermal methods are very similar to hydrothermal except that the primary solvent used is not water, although water is



Figure 15. TEM images of (A) dog-bone-shaped TiO_2 and (B) truncated and elongated rhombic TiO_2 . (Insets) High-magnification images of the corresponding shapes (left, longitudinal view; right, cross view of panel B). Reprinted with permission from ref 154. Copyright 2009 American Chemical Society.

sometimes added to induce hydrolysis. In contrast to hydrothermal, a larger variety of surfactants or structuredirecting agents can be employed in solvothermal methods to drive the shape and morphology of the crystallites. The choice of the solvent has also been found to dramatically influence the shape and size of the formed crystallites. For example, Du et al.¹⁴⁷ showed that octahedral titania particles could be obtained in toluene whereas spheres were obtained in ethanol following a solvothermal treatment of titanium butoxide in the presence of CTAB.

Under solvothermal conditions, titania formation can occur even in the absence of any additional compounds other than an oxygenated titanium precursor such as a titanium alkoxide.¹⁴⁸ This is because some titanium alkoxides can thermally decompose into titania and an unsaturated (alkene) organic compound. Indeed, Kominami et al.¹⁴⁹ demonstrated that titanium *tert*-butoxide can decompose into titania microparticles (composed of smaller titania nanocrystals) at high temperature (200–300 °C) in organic solvents but that primary and secondary titanium alkoxides cannot, even at temperatures as high as 300 °C. This fact can be related to both the strength of the C–O bond in the alkoxide, which must be broken to form the required Ti–O–Ti bonds, and the ease with which the alkyl group can undergo elimination to produce the unsaturated alkene.

An additional benefit of the solvothermal versus the hydrothermal process is that organic surfactants can be employed, which solubilize the nanocrystals in nonpolar solvents through the formation of inverse micelles. Kim et al.¹⁵⁰ used oleic acid to decompose TTIP at 250 °C in toluene, resulting in ~6 nm crystallites that became elongated upon concentration of the reaction or increased oleic acid concentration.

Surfactants, in combination with other additives, can also help control the formation of specific facets in titania. For instance, Chen et al.¹⁵¹ used oleic acid in combination with NaF to drive the formation of specific shapes based on the truncated bipyramidal geometry. In their preparation, these authors started from titanium butoxide, oleic acid, NaF, and water and performed a solvothermal treatment at 250 °C for 24 h. The resulting product was composed of anatase particles of about 40 nm in length (main axis) with a rhombic projection consistent with a truncated tetragonal bipyramidal geometry (Figure 14).

The authors found that the main mechanism for the formation of the particles was Ostwald ripening, with bimodal size distributions of particles observed at intermediate reaction stages. It is interesting to note that despite the use of F⁻ ions during the synthesis, large percentages of $\{001\}$ facets were not produced in the final crystals, although some truncation of the basic structure was observed at lower titanium butoxide/NaF ratios. The authors claimed that the primary role of NaF was in the formation of faceted bipyramidal nanocrystals, as the use of NaCl, NaBr, or sodium oleate resulted in more spherical particles. Similar observations were also reported by Zhu et al., 152 which, despite the use of TiF₄ in combination with TiCl₃, did not result in the observation of {001} facets. Instead, the solvothermal treatment of the two precursors in ethanol provided 15 nm anatase nanocrystals enclosed by {101} facets with a characteristic blue coloration induced by the presence of Ti^{3+} in the structure, as previously reported in other preparations.¹⁵³ The authors of the study propose that the sample exhibits a special configuration in which a reduced titania core (TiO_{2-x}) embedded inside a fully oxidized titania shell, as suggested by Raman, which indicates a slight shift and peak broadening of the E_g mode.

Outstanding control over the morphology of titania was demonstrated by Dinh et al.,¹⁵⁴ utilizing an ethanol-based solvothermal process in the presence of steam. The authors showed that highly crystalline particles of pure anatase were prepared in a variety of shapes by carefully tuning the amount of oleylamine and oleic acid added to a solution of titanium butoxide during solvothermal treatment at 180 °C. For example, by changing the titanium/oleic acid/oleylamine ratio from 2/6/4 to 2/5/5, these authors were able to produce either dog-bone-shaped or truncated rhombic crystals, respectively (Figure 15). The authors rationalized the shape control on the basis of their ability to finely control hydrolytic and nonhydrolytic rates under the reaction conditions. Titanium oxyhydroxide will initially form through the reaction of titanium butoxide with water (steam) present in the reaction mixture. However, complexation by oleic acid could hinder further hydrolytic condensation of this species, favoring instead a nonhydrolytic pathway operative when oleylamine is present that cleaves the titanium carboxyhydroxide bond to produce crystalline titania through aminolysis. Tuning of the specific exposed facets was realized by tuning of the oleic acid/ oleylamine ratio, by changing the concentration of the titanium precursor, or by altering the temperature of the reaction,



Figure 16. Representative TEM micrographs of as-synthesized anatase nanoparticles, obtained at 40 °C via the "benzyl alcohol" route. (a) Overview; (b) higher magnification illustrating the crystallinity of the particles; (c) lattice fringes of single particles with an average diameter of about 4 nm; (d) selected area electron diffraction rings. Reprinted with permission from ref 163. Copyright 2002 American Chemical Society.

allowing for a rich mixture of shapes including also bars, dots, and rods to be obtained.

Similarly to hydrothermal processes, the use of TiCl₄ as precursor can lead to formation of rutile particles instead of the commonly observed anatase. Roca and Leite¹⁵⁵ found that higher concentration of TiCl₄ and a less polar solvent such as 1-octanol compared to terathane-1000 (a glycol) favored the rutile phase because of the retention of HCl on the surface of the growing titania particles. The use of HF as structure-directing agent is also prevalent in solvothermal syntheses in which water is present in the solvent mixture. Micrometer-size sheets were prepared from TiF₄ by use of 2-propanol as the primary solvent.¹⁵⁶

In a similar approach, the ionic liquid $[bmim][BF_4]$ has been utilized in the solvothermal synthesis of titania as both a fluoride source and a ligand, allowing for production of anatase titania cuboids of variable aspect ratio and edge lengths in the 60-830 nm range, enclosed by higher energy $\{100\}$ and $\{001\}$ facets.¹⁵⁷ Several elements dictated the final morphology that the authors were able to produce: modification of the reactivity of titanium tetraisopropoxide by complexation with acetic acid, amount of ionic liquid, and amount of water. Interestingly, smaller crystals were obtained upon decreasing the amount of acetic acid in the mixture, suggesting that the nucleation rate was slower when the titanium precursor was protected by a larger amount of acetic acid. The BF_4^- anion served as the fluorine source, able to stabilize {001} facets thanks to its decomposition under synthesis conditions in the presence of trace water. The organic part of the ionic liquid ([bmim]⁺) was also shown to provide stabilization of the $\{100\}$ facets that were then exposed in the final crystals. Interestingly, the cuboids showed a resistance toward the anatase-to-rutile phase transformation up to 800 °C, probably due to a combination of kinetic limitations due to the large size and to the nature of the exposed facets. In a different solvothermal synthesis

involving acetic acid, anatase wires were prepared by use of N,N-dimethylformamide (DMF)/acetic acid as solvent mixture and lithium acetate as modifier.¹⁵⁸ The nanowires grow along the [101] direction to yield structures of hundreds of nanometers in length and 5–20 nm in diameter. Similarly, small anatase nanocrystals that are soluble in a range of solvents were prepared by solvothermal synthesis in trifluoroacetic acid from amorphous titania powder as the precursor.¹⁵⁹

With ethylene glycol as solvent, pure brookite particles were reported from $TiO(acac)_2$ as the precursor in a solvohydrothermal procedure at 300 °C.¹⁶⁰ Important in this case was the addition of sodium laurate as a Na⁺ source, which led to formation of the brookite phase.

In a combined hydro/solvothermal method, Li and coworkers¹⁶¹ described the use of linoleic acid as surfactant for the preparation of a variety of materials in nanocrystal form. This method was then applied to prepare small anatase nanocrystals and nanorods but in cyclohexane.¹⁶² These authors were able to tune the length of the rods and the size of the particles by changing the amount of linoleic acid and NH₄HCO₃, used to generate water in situ, driving the formation of Ti–O–Ti bonds.

The "benzyl alcohol" route, developed by Niederberger et al., ^{163,164} is another versatile method to prepare titania and other oxides. It consists of the reaction between TiCl₄ and benzyl alcohol to form an intermediate alkoxide that is then hydrolyzed to form the final titania crystallites. Benzyl alcohol serves also as the reaction medium, therefore the distinction between solvothermal and nonaqueous surfactant-assisted for this method is not very clear. The method results in formation of titania nanoparticles at very low temperatures (<100 °C and as low as 40 °C, Figure 16) with sizes tunable in the 4–14 nm range depending on the aging time, temperature, and benzyl alcohol/TiCl₄ ratio. Although the particles are colloidally stable as synthesized, they tend to be insoluble after washing and

drying. The addition of surfactants such as trioctylphospine was found to improve the solubility and solution stability of the washed particles. The solubility of the particles can be further tailored in water or organic solvents by using dopamine or 4*tert*-butylcatechol, respectively, during the synthesis.¹⁶⁵

Polymer melts can also be used as solvents for solvethermal preparation of TiO_2 crystallites. Poly(1,4-butanediol), for example, was employed as a solvent and reaction medium.¹⁶⁶ The ether moieties in the polymer can react with TiCl₄ to eliminate organic halide and HCl, forming 8 nm TiO₂ particles at temperatures as low as 120 °C that are soluble in common organic solvents such as ethanol, tetrahydrofuran, or DMF (Figure 17).



Figure 17. (a) TEM and (b) HRTEM images of TiO_2 nanoparticles prepared in molten poly(1,4-butanediol) and TiCl_4 . (c) XRD pattern of 8 nm anatase nanocrystals. (d) DMF solution at high concentration of TiO₂ particles; the particles show thixotropic properties. Reprinted with permission from ref 166. Copyright 2010 American Chemical Society.

5.2. Nonhydrolytic Methods

Nonhydrolytic surfactant-assisted processes are based on reactions that produce the required Ti-O-Ti bonds in the presence of surfactants that modulate the growth of titania, while typically also participating in the formation mechanism. This chemistry has evolved from methods developed for the synthesis of colloidal quantum dots and other materials, which have revolutionized the synthesis of size- and shape-controlled

nanocrystals. Such methods have been utilized to produce a variety of metal oxide systems including tin oxide, tungsten oxide, iron oxide, and zinc oxide, as well as titania. One of the advantages of nonaqueous surfactant-assisted synthesis is that the reactivity of the titanium precursors can be further modulated by the choice of the surfactant molecules that act as protecting agents.

Colvin and co-workers¹⁶⁷ were among the first to exploit the reaction between titanium halides and titanium alkoxides or with ethers (see also section 3) to produce colloidally stable titania particles via a nonhydrolytic approach. The reaction proceeded to completion, resulting in nanoparticles that were soluble in organic solvents due to the presence of trioctylphosphine oxide (TOPO) capping ligands. Alkoxides or ethers with branched alkyl groups (e.g., tert-butyl) were found to increase the reaction rate, while the choice of titanium halide was found to alter the particle size, with the largest anion, iodide (I^{-}) , producing the smallest particles, followed by bromide, chloride, and fluoride with increasing particle size. These observations are in accordance with an S_N1-type mechanism in which a carbocation is formed from the alkoxide, which then reacts with the halide from the titanium halide precursor. A similar method was also employed to prepare 2.5 nm amorphous titania particles that were then used as precursor for the synthesis of rods through oriented attachment.¹⁶⁸ TOPO was again used as the solvent and stabilizing agent for producing 3-5 nm titania crystals from thermal decomposition of a modified alkoxide precursor.¹⁶⁹ In this latter case, it is likely that the alkoxide ligands act as the oxygen source that is incorporated in the final TiO₂ lattice. Yin and coworkers¹⁷⁰ used this method to prepare similarly small (5 nm) nanocrystals starting from titanium butoxide and TiCl₄ with TOPO acting as the solvent and ligand. The small crystals were then self-assembled into large, submicrometer-size spherical mesoporous particles.

The impact of surfactant binding during the growth of 0D and one-dimensional (1D) structures was studied by Cozzoli et al.¹⁷¹ Pure anatase rods were obtained by hydrolysis of titanium isopropoxide solutions in pure oleic acid at temperatures in the range 80-100 °C in the presence of a base as a catalyst for Ti-O-Ti bond formation. Slow, in situ release of water by an esterification reaction in the presence of ethylene glycol resulted in spherical and nonuniform particles. Quick hydrolysis after the fast injection of water provided anisotropic growth. The authors hypothesized that the difference in reactivity was due to the existence of different precursors in solution under the two hydrolysis conditions. With a fast water injection, the system was kinetically driven to grow anisotropically because of a face-dependent surface density of -OX groups in the titania precursor and a directional reaction between polynuclear monomers in solution as dictated by the long oleic acid alkyl chains on the surface of the small nuclei (Figure 18).

Similar considerations were reported by Zhang et al.¹⁷² during the preparation of 2.3 nm anatase particles and ultrathin nanorods by aminolysis of a titanium alkoxide/oleate precursor in organic solvent. When TTIP was reacted with oleic acid at high temperature in organic solvent, nanorods of tunable length were obtained by varying the concentration of oleylamine that was injected at high temperature. Again, as in the previous case, the coverage of specific facets by oleic acid was found to lead to the anisotropic growth of rods. Other syntheses with the combination of oleic acid and oleylamine were also reported to produce anatase rods under similar conditions.^{173,174}



Figure 18. Hypothesized mechanism for anisotropic (route a) and isotropic (route b) growth of titania nanocrystals in oleic acid as pure solvent $[-OPr^i = -CH(CH_3)_2]$ and R = oleic acid alkyl chain]. Reprinted with permission from ref 171. Copyright 2003 American Chemical Society.



Figure 19. Synthesis of TiO_2 anatase nanoparticles by reaction of titanium ethoxide and $TiCl_4$, followed by treatment in benzyl alcohol and eventual ligand exchange. Reprinted with permission from ref 175. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society.

Building on the basis of the "benzyl alcohol" route (see section 5.1), Kotsokechagia et al.¹⁷⁵ reported a modified strategy that combined a first nonaqueous phase, to better control size, phase, and crystallinity of the particles, with a water-based procedure, where surface groups are removed to yield "naked" or "ligand-free" nanoparticles (Figure 19).

The method exploited the reaction between $TiCl_4$ and ethanol in benzyl alcohol to produce 8–9 nm anatase particles. The authors claim that this initial reaction produces particles with ethoxy groups still on the surface because of the lower steric hindrance of the ethoxy group compared to the benzyl residue. The ethoxy groups can be then easily removed by

Chemical Reviews

dialysis at low pH to provide the final "ligand-free" particles. After 9 h of reaction, anatase particles are formed with a primary size of 2-5 nm that agglomerated into secondary particles with a size of about 30 nm, as measured by light scattering (Figure 20).



Figure 20. TEM images of anatase particles prepared by a combined nonaqueous/aqueous route: (a) low and (b) higher resolution images. Reprinted with permission from ref 175. Copyright 2008 American Chemical Society.

The anatase particles can then be successfully redispersed in water and functionalized with several ligands.¹⁷⁶ In a further study, these authors addressed the role of water in the growth of particles,¹⁷⁷ because the "benzyl alcohol" procedure is usually conducted under air, where trace amounts of water can be present. They found that water accelerated the kinetics for formation of titania particles and that more hydrophobic alkoxide ligands (such as isopropoxide group) allowed for better dispersion of the particles in water due to the lower agglomeration.

Wu et al.¹⁷⁸ also used benzyl alcohol as reaction medium, but in the presence of amines as ligands, to prepare titania sheets and rhombic anatase nanocrystals under solvothermal conditions. These authors found that the addition of small amounts of water and control of the reaction temperature allowed for the particles to transform from sheetlike to rhombic structures exhibiting high-energy {010} facets in a high ratio (43%). An attractive feature of this procedure is that the final crystals, capped by oleylamine, can be readily transferred into water by treatment with tetrabutylammonium hydroxide in ethanol. In another similar approach, a thiobenzoate titanium complex was used as precursor to form 6 nm anatase particles in benzyl alcohol under microwave irradiation.¹⁷⁹

Similar to the benzyl alcohol route, Szeifert et al.¹⁸⁰ used *tert*butanol as reaction medium in combination with microwave heating. At temperatures as low as 80 °C, small, crystalline anatase nanocrystals (3–4 nm) were formed. The possible mechanism involves a nucleophilic substitution of the OH⁻ ion derived from decomposition of *tert*-butanol to TiCl₄ and subsequent reactions to produce the final titania particles. An "unconventional" organometallic method was developed by Tang et al.,¹⁸¹ who reacted bis(cyclooctatetraene)titanium with dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (eq 6) at room temperature to form titania.

$$Ti(COT)_2 + 2OS(CH_3)_2 \rightarrow TiO_2 + 2S(CH_3)_2 + 2COT$$
(6)

The very high reactivity of the titanium precursor was balanced by the less reactive DMSO to provide \sim 5 nm nanocrystals that, when obtained in the presence of phosphine as ligand, were crystalline and colloidally stable (Figure 21). The nanocrystals were composed of brookite as the main phase. Particles of larger size (15 nm) and narrower size distribution can be obtained by reacting the two compounds at 120 °C.

The reaction between amines or alcohols and titanium– carboxylate complexes is another popular way to prepare titania nanocrystals via nonhydrolytic surfactant-assisted methods. The injection of one of the precursors into a hot solution containing the others is a viable way to induce burst nucleation and prepare uniform nanocrystals. A preliminary investigation in this area was reported by O'Brien et al.,¹⁸² who mainly studied the preparation of BaTiO₃ nanocrystals via hot injection. These authors stated that by injecting TTIP into a solution of oleic acid in diphenyl ether followed by H₂O₂ solution to improve crystallinity, 10 nm titania nanocrystals could have been prepared. At this final point, inverse micelles were formed in which the further hydrolysis and crystallization of titania particles took place.

The good control that nonhydrolytic methods show in the hydrolysis and condensation rates to form the titania network can be advantageously used to prepare larger structures from smaller building blocks by addition of more precursors in solution. This method is usually termed seed-mediated synthesis, with the seeds being the small structures that are grown into larger ones by epitaxial growth in solution. A very elegant example of the use of this method in the preparation of titania structures was recently reported by Buonsanti et al.¹⁸³ These authors not only demonstrated fine control over the architecture by realizing 1D growth of titania into rods but also observed a phase transition from the original anatase seeds to the pure phase brookite rods. The reactions were based on the aminolysis of a mixed titanium chlorocarboxylate complex to form the seeds, followed by slow addition of titanium precursors, resulting in the unidirectional growth of brookite rods with controlled size. The same method was later applied to the preparation of branched titania structures by increasing the ratio of oleic acid to oleylamine during the reaction, demonstrating further control over the growth of titania in solution.¹⁸⁴ Building on this basis, Gordon et al.¹⁵³ demonstrated an impressive control over the structure, phase, and electronic properties of small anatase crystallites by manipulation of the precursors in solution under hightemperature, nonhydrolytic conditions (Figure 22). These authors found that the morphology of titania nanocrystals could be sensitively manipulated depending only on the choice of TiX₄ precursor (TiF₄, TiCl₄, or a 1:1 mixture) and the cosurfactants that initiate the precursor decomposition (1octadecanol and oleylamine). As aforementioned, the presence of HF during hydrothermal syntheses of titania has been shown preferentially expose the {001} facet of anatase. In this work, HF was released in situ during the nonhydrolytic decomposition of a mixed titanium fluoride carboxylate complex, which resulted in the preferential exposure of the $\{001\}$ facet.



Figure 21. A selection of TEM and HRTEM images of anatase nanocrystals obtained from the reaction between $Ti(COT)_2$ and DMSO at room temperature with tributylphosphine oxide/tributylphosphine as surfactants. (a) Particles redispersed in CHCl₃ after being precipitated from the reaction solution by hexane. (b) Particles from the supernatant. (c-g) High-resolution TEM images of the particles: (c, d) particles from sample a, which are single-crystalline; (e-h) large particles from sample b. High-resolution TEM analysis reveals the various internal structures of these particles: (e) hollow particle, (f) polycrystalline particle that contains different domains, and (g, h) single-crystalline. The scale bars in images c-h all correspond to 5 nm. Reprinted with permission from ref 181. Copyright 2005 American Chemical Society.

By mixing two titanium halides in a 1:1 ratio, nanocrystals with an intermediate level of $\{001\}$ facet were produced. In addition, the choice of cosurfactant was shown to have a dramatic effect on the proportion of $\{001\}$ facet exposed, with 1-octadecanol resulting in significantly more $\{001\}$ facet than oleylamine. This is rationalized on the basis of the ability of oleylamine to react with HF, forming a primary ammonium fluoride salt, effectively sequestering HF from the reaction and inhibiting exposure of the $\{001\}$ facet.

In another example of the use of ionic liquids as both solvent and surfactant in the synthesis of titania nanocrystals, Ding et al.¹⁸⁵ used microwave irradiation to prepare highly truncated, cubiclike titania nanocrystals of about 9 nm in size. The ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ($[bmim]^+[BF_4]^-$) was found to react with TTIP to form a partially hydrolyzed polyanion as an intermediate, which then decomposed into the final anatase nanocrystals.

6. TEMPLATED APPROACHES

In previous sections, synthetic approaches have been described in which the morphology of nanosized titania is altered through reaction conditions, such as reactant concentrations, temperature, and the presence of structure-directing agents. An alternative approach is to utilize templates to program the morphology of titania nanoparticles. In general, template approaches can be organized into two broad categories, soft



Figure 22. TEM images of TiO_2 nanocrystals synthesized from either (a, d) TiF_4 , (b, e) a mixture of TiF_4 and TiCl_4 , or (c, f) TiCl_4 . Nanocrystals depicted in panels a–c and d–f are synthesized in the presence of oleylamine and 1-octadecanol, respectively. Reprinted with permission from ref 153. Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.

and hard. Soft templates are formed from flexible organic or biologically based molecules, such as microemulsions, micelles, or proteins, whereas hard templates are rigid structures such as inorganic colloids or polymer beads. If conditions are found in which titania can be seeded inside or on top of a template, this represents a very powerful means to control particle morphology.

6.1. Soft Templates

Soft templating approaches have been used for many years in the synthesis of titania nanocrystals and can be broken down into two main categories, microemulsion or micelle-based and biological. Microemulsions are thermodynamically stable dispersions in which amphiphilic surfactants (and very often cosurfactants) stabilize small droplets of one liquid within a second liquid with which it is immiscible. Microemulsions are often defined as either oil-in-water or water-in-oil (reverse), although supercritical CO₂ may also be used as solvent. Similar to microemulsions, micelles are aggregates of surfactants that form in solution when the concentration of surfactant exceeds the critical micelle concentration (cmc). In aqueous solutions, the nonpolar tails of the surfactant cluster in the interior of the micelle and the polar head groups protrude outward (a normal micelle), while in a nonpolar phase, the polar head groups are in the interior and the nonpolar tails extend outward (a reverse micelle). The typical shape of a micelle is spherical, although it can be tuned depending on surfactant type and concentration.¹⁸⁶ Micelles can be filled with liquid of appropriate polarity to form swollen micelles, which are nearly indistinguishable from microemulsions. For this reason, the terms micelle and microemulsion are often used interchangeably.

In both microemulsions and micelles, the droplets that are stabilized by the surfactants may act as nanoscale reactors in which precursors are dissolved and react to produce nanoparticles of a variety of materials.^{187,188} In the case of titania, alkoxides that are soluble in hydrocarbons are very useful precursors and can be used in reverse microemulsions or swollen reverse micelles. Their hydrolysis inside the water droplets can produce nanoscale particles that are stabilized by the surfactants. The powders obtained in this way are usually amorphous because the process is conducted at room temperature and must be thermally treated to convert into TiO_2 .¹⁸⁹ Kim et al.¹⁹⁰ studied how the water-to-surfactant ratio, water-to-titanium alkoxide ratio, temperature, feed rate, and ammonia concentration influenced the properties of titania particles prepared in a microemulsion approach. Several groups have also reported the precipitation of $Ti(OH)_4$ by combining a microemulsion containing TiCl₄ in water droplets with another containing ammonium hydroxide.^{189,191} Upon mixing, the two microemulsions merged, resulting in precipitation that was confined within the droplets stabilized by surfactants. Particles were tunable in the small size range, as dictated by the microemulsion composition (water/surfactant ratio in particular). In a unique approach, amorphous titania nanoparticles have also been formed in hydrated reverse micelles dispersed in liquid CO₂ at elevated pressure through the addition of TTIP.¹⁹² In most cases, to obtain crystalline particles, the precipitate resulting from microemulsion synthesis must be isolated and calcined. On the other hand, Zhang et al.¹⁹³ showed that, in the presence of acids, the hydrolysis of titanium butoxide results in the formation of crystalline elongated particles. Similarly, researchers have hydrothermally treated an entire microemulsion solution to induce crystallization.^{194,195} In another variation, Lin et al.¹⁹⁶ synthesized ~5 nm crystalline</sup> anatase particles by a postsynthesis, in situ annealing at temperatures as high as 300 °C while maintaining a microemulsion for several hours (Figure 23). The size can be controlled in a narrow range (4-6 nm) by changing the surfactant/water ratio.

Biomolecules can also act as templates or initiators for the formation of inorganic nanoparticles with unique biomimetic structures¹⁹⁷ and can direct the growth of specific structures.¹⁹⁸ Natural proteins often exhibit unique morphologies in the nanometer size regime, which may act as templates for titania. These proteins usually work at neutral conditions. For instance, Yan et al.¹⁹⁹ used egg albumin proteins as templates in the preparation of 9 nm particles, and Sewell and Wright²⁰⁰ utilized proteins derived from the diatom Cylindrotheca fusiformis to template the formation of titania with titanium(IV) bis-(ammonium lactato)dihydroxide as a precursor. Bansal et al.²⁰¹ described the direct synthesis of crystalline titania particles in the presence of proteins derived from the fungus *Fusarium oxysporum*. Jiang et al.²⁰² prepared titania particles by using protamine, and the authors postulated a mechanism in which electrostatic interactions between the positively charged



Figure 23. HRTEM images of crystalline titania particles obtained by a microemulsion technique with postsynthesis annealing in the microemulsion at 300 $^{\circ}$ C. Reprinted with permission from ref 196. Copyright 2002 American Chemical Society.

polyamine protein groups and the negatively charged titania precursors are the basis of the templating route. The titania materials prepared with these procedures are usually amorphous at room temperature, and their morphology is hardly controlled.

6.2. Hard Templates

Hard templating approaches utilize rigid inorganic or polymeric materials as templates, allowing for titania to be coated on the surface of a material to form shells once the template is dissolved or deposited into the channels of porous materials. For example, highly uniform titania hollow structures may be prepared by hydrothermally coating Cu₂O octahedral crystals with titania.²⁰³ The synthesis utilizes the hydrolysis of TiF_4 precursor to form titania on the surface of the Cu₂O crystals along with the simultaneous etching of some of the Cu₂O layers by the HF formed in situ. Further acidic etching can completely dissolve the templating Cu₂O crystals, resulting in hollow titania cages that preserve the octahedral geometry in the absence of surfactants or stabilizing agents. The titania shells are polycrystalline and are composed of agglomerates of smaller crystallites, and their size can be controlled by varying the size of the templating Cu₂O nanocrystals. Similarly, hollow spheres were obtained by coating polystyrene particles with titanium butoxide, followed by a sol-gel approach to grow a titania layer on the surface.²⁰⁴ After removal of the templating particles by By use of an opposite templating strategy, titania precursors were infiltrated inside the pores created by ordered assemblies of monodisperse silica spheres.²⁰⁵ Titania single crystals were then grown with TiF_4 and HF, conditions that reduces nucleation rate and allow a controlled slow growth of the crystals inside the template. By finally removing the silica template, mesoporous single crystals of anatase can be produced with advantageous properties of high surface area and conductivity and electron mobility due to their single-crystalline nature.

In a different approach, TiO₂–SiO₂ materials were prepared by sol–gel methods and, following a calcination process, titania nanoparticles can be trapped inside the mesoporous channels of the silica host.²⁰⁶

7. SUMMARY AND PERSPECTIVES

Titania remains one of the most-studied and most-used nanoscale materials, with a wide range of applications. Synthetic methods to prepare titania nanoparticles and nanocrystals with controlled size, shape, and phase are therefore of paramount importance to meet the expectations of the market and the increasing demand for titania with well-defined characteristics for advanced applications. Despite the great effort spent in the study of its structure, properties, and synthesis, there is still room for improvement in terms of quality of the products that are obtained by bottom-up approaches.

Historically, sol-gel methods were initially developed and titania nanoparticles were obtained in high yield and crystallinity after thermal treatments of the dried gels. Because of the poor properties of the as-prepared materials, however, hydrothermal and solvothermal methods were then applied. All these procedures have kept improving in recent years. Later, the development of surfactant-assisted nonhydrolytic routes have marked a huge improvement in this field, with the preparation of tailored titania nanostructures with increasing complexity, as well as size and shape control.

Still, many problems need to be solved. A clear correlation between synthetic parameters and the obtained products is still lacking, with several similar procedures resulting in drastically different results. Many reports of titania synthesis focus on the preparation and properties of the obtained products, with poor understanding of the parameters affecting the final size and composition. A few guidelines have been reported in this review, but systematic studies of how a particular parameter (temperature, pH, surfactant, etc.) influences the final structure and phase of a titania product are much needed. Strictly related to this point, experimental procedures to prepare materials with great control over size, shape, and phase are also lacking in the literature, with only a few appearing recently. It is surprising, for example, that the preparation of titania with high-surfaceenergy exposed facets has been reported only few years ago.⁵⁷ These procedures would be incredibly useful in correlating the structural parameters of titania with the performance of this important material for applications, such as photocatalysis, solar cells, batteries, etc.

To overcome some of the critical problems of past synthetic methods, new approaches are needed that provide exquisite control over the morphology, crystallinity, and phase purity of titania particles, and these are expected to provide the most opportunities to advance this field. Among the procedures reported in this review, surfactant-assisted solvothermal and

Chemical Reviews

nonhydrolytic methods are the most promising approaches available to achieve the above-mentioned goals. It is expected that further developments in controlling the complexities of these synthetic approaches will result in the preparation of even more precisely tuned titania nanostructures, allowing the ideal geometries to be prepared for a given application.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*E-mail cbmurray@sas.upenn.edu.

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

Biographies



Matteo Cargnello obtained his Ph.D. in Nanotechnology in 2012 at the University of Trieste (Italy). For his thesis he was awarded the Italian Chemical Society – Inorganic Chemistry Division Award in 2012, the ENI Award 2013 "Debut in Research", and the European Federation of Catalysis Societies Award in 2013. He is currently a postdoctoral scholar at the University of Pennsylvania (Philadelphia, PA) in the Department of Chemistry with Christopher B. Murray. His interests are in uniform and tailored materials and nanostructures for catalysis and photocatalysis and optical metamaterials.



Thomas R. Gordon received a B.S. in Chemistry from Lebanon Valley College in 2007 and a Ph.D. in Materials Chemistry from the University of Pennsylvania in 2013 under the supervision of Professor Christopher B. Murray. His graduate work concerned the synthesis of monodisperse oxide nanocrystals with controlled morphology for applications in photocatalysis and plasmonics. In 2013, he began as a postdoctoral fellow in the laboratory of Professor Raymond Schaak at Pennsylvania State University, where he investigated the preparation of hybrid nanoparticles to act as model systems for catalysis and optics. He recently accepted a position as a Senior Product Development Chemist at Adhesives Research, Inc., in Glen Rock, PA.



Dr. Christopher B. Murray received his B.Sc. degree with honors in Chemistry from St. Mary's University in Halifax (Nova Scotia, Canada) in 1988 before going on to the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, earning his Ph.D. in Physical/Inorganic Chemistry in 1995. He was a member of the research staff at IBM's T. J. Watson Research Center from 1995 to 2000 and manager of IBM's "Nanoscale Materials & Devices" department from 2000 to 2007. He currently holds the Richard Perry University Professorship in Chemistry and Materials Science at the University of Pennsylvania (Philadelphia, PA), where his research focuses on the preparation, characterization, and integration of nanomaterials. Chris has authored more than 100 scholarly articles, and he is an inventor on more than 25 patents in the area of nanoscale materials and devices.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

M.C. and T.R.G. acknowledge support from the National Science Foundation through the Nano/Bio Interface Center at the University of Pennsylvania, Grant DMR08-32802. C.B.M. is grateful for the support of the Richard Perry University Professorship.

REFERENCES

- (1) Chen, X.; Mao, S. S. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 2891.
- (2) Chen, X.; Shen, S.; Guo, L.; Mao, S. S. Chem. Rev. 2010, 110, 6503.
- (3) Wijnhoven, J. E. G. J.; Vos, W. L. Science 1998, 281, 802.
- (4) Zhang, H.; Penn, R. L.; Hamers, R. J.; Banfield, J. F. J. Phys. Chem. B 1999, 103, 4656.
- (5) Park, J.; Joo, J.; Soon, G. K.; Jang, Y.; Hyeon, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2007, 46, 4630.
- (6) Chae, S. Y.; Park, M. K.; Lee, S. K.; Kim, T. Y.; Kim, S. K.; Lee, W. I. Chem. Mater. 2003, 15, 3326.
- (7) Casavola, M.; Buonsanti, R.; Caputo, G.; Cozzoli, P. D. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2008, 2008, 837.
- (8) Buonsanti, R.; Carlino, E.; Giannini, C.; Altamura, D.; De Marco, L.; Giannuzzi, R.; Manca, M.; Gigli, G.; Cozzoli, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133, 19216.
- (9) Dong, A.; Ye, X.; Chen, J.; Kang, Y.; Gordon, T.; Kikkawa, J. M.; Murray, C. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2010**, 133, 998.
- (10) Kovalenko, M. V.; Scheele, M.; Talapin, D. V. Science 2009, 324, 1417.
- (11) Rosen, E. L.; Buonsanti, R.; Llordes, A.; Sawvel, A. M.; Milliron, D. J.; Helms, B. A. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2012**, *51*, 684.
- (12) Zhang, H.; Banfield, F. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 2073.
- (13) Banfield, J. F.; Veblen, D. R. Am. Mineral. 1992, 77, 545.
- (14) Pauling, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1929, 51, 1010.
- (15) Carp, O.; Huisman, C. L.; Reller, A. Prog. Solid State Chem. 2004, 32, 33.

Chemical Reviews

- (16) Marchand, R.; Brohan, L.; Tournoux, M. Mater. Res. Bull. 1980, 15, 1129.
- (17) Zukalová, M.; Kalbàc, M.; Kavan, L.; Exnar, I.; Graetzel, M. Chem. Mater. 2005, 17, 1248.
- (18) Fattakhova-Rohlfing, D.; Wark, M.; Brezesinski, T.; Smarsly, B. M.; Rathousky, J. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2007**, *17*, 123.
- (19) Testino, A.; Bellobono, I. R.; Buscaglia, V.; Canevali, C.; D'Arienzo, M.; Polizzi, S.; Scotti, R.; Morazzoni, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 3564.
- (20) Marcus, Y. Biophys. Chem. 1994, 51, 111.
- (21) LaMer, V. K.; Dinegar, R. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1950, 72, 4847.
- (22) Tao, A. R.; Habas, S.; Yang, P. Small 2008, 4, 310.
- (23) Stoeva, S.; Klabunde, K. J.; Sorensen, C. M.; Dragieva, I. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 2305.
- (24) Murray, C. B.; Kagan, C. R.; Bawendi, M. G. Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci. 2000, 30, 545.
- (25) Park, J.; Privman, V.; Matijevic, E. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 11630.
- (26) Murray, C. B.; Norris, D. J.; Bawendi, M. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1993, 115, 8706.
- (27) Park, J.; An, K.; Hwang, Y.; Park, J. E. G.; Noh, H. J.; Kim, J. Y.; Park, J. H.; Hwang, N. M.; Hyeon, T. *Nat. Mater.* **2004**, *3*, 891.
- (28) Buonsanti, R.; Grillo, V.; Carlino, E.; Giannini, C.; Curri, M. L.; Innocenti, C.; Sangregorio, C.; Achterhold, K.; Parak, F. G.; Agostiano, A.; Cozzoli, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2006**, *128*, 16953.
- (29) Li, H.; Kanaras, A. G.; Manna, L. Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 1387.
 (30) Wang, F.; Richards, V. N.; Shields, S. P.; Buhro, W. E. Chem. Mater. 2013, 26, 5.
- (31) Niederberger, M.; Cölfen, H. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2006, 8, 3271.
- (32) Wang, F.; Richards, V. N.; Shields, S. P.; Buhro, W. E. Chem. Mater. 2014, 26, 5.
- (33) Zhang, J.; Huang, F.; Lin, Z. Nanoscale 2010, 2, 18.
- (34) Rajh, T.; Chen, L. X.; Lukas, K.; Liu, T.; Thurnauer, M. C.; Tiede, D. M. J. Phys. Chem. B 2002, 106, 10543.
- (35) Jun, Y. W.; Casula, M. F.; Sim, J. H.; Kim, S. Y.; Cheon, J.; Alivisatos, A. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15981.
- (36) Yin, Y.; Alivisatos, A. P. Nature 2005, 437, 664.
- (37) Brust, M.; Walker, M.; Bethell, D.; Schiffrin, D. J.; Whyman, R. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1994, 801.
- (38) Tanner, R. E.; Liang, Y.; Altman, E. I. Surf. Sci. 2002, 506, 251.
- (39) Moser, J.; Punchihewa, S.; Infelta, P. P.; Graetzel, M. Langmuir 1991, 7, 3012.
- (40) Penn, R. L.; Banfield, J. F. Geochim. Cosmochim. Acta 1999, 63, 1549.
- (41) Folkers, J. P.; Gorman, C. B.; Laibinis, P. E.; Buchholz, S.; Whitesides, G. M.; Nuzzo, R. G. Langmuir **1995**, *11*, 813.
- (42) Quarta, A.; Curcio, A.; Kakwere, H.; Pellegrino, T. Nanoscale 2012, 4, 3319.
- (43) Wang, H.; Chen, L.; Feng, Y.; Chen, H. Acc. Chem. Res. 2013, 46, 1636.
- (44) Morselli, D.; Bondioli, F.; Fiorini, M.; Messori, M. J. Mater. Sci. **2012**, 47, 7003.
- (45) Meldrum, F. C.; Cölfen, H. Chem. Rev. 2008, 108, 4332.
- (46) Dickerson, M. B.; Sandhage, K. H.; Naik, R. R. Chem. Rev. 2008, 108, 4935.
- (47) Cha, J. N.; Shimizu, K.; Zhou, Y.; Christiansen, S. C.; Chmelka,
- B. F.; Stucky, G. D.; Morse, D. E. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 1999, 96, 361.
- (48) Hire, C. C.; Genuino, H. C.; Suib, S. L.; Adamson, D. H. Chem. Mater. 2013, 25, 2056.
- (49) Mehrotra, R. C.; Singh, A. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1996, 25, 1.
- (50) Sugimoto, T.; Zhou, X.; Muramatsu, A. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2002, 252, 339.
- (51) Niederberger, M.; Garnweitner, G. Chem.—Eur. J. 2006, 12, 7282.
- (52) Breil, H.; Wilke, G. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1966, 5, 898.
- (53) Jones, C.; Leedham, J.; Wright, J.; Crosbie, J.; Fleeting, A.;
- Otway, J.; O'Brien, P.; Pemble, E. J. Mater. Chem. 1998, 8, 1773.

- (54) Doeuff, S.; Henry, M.; Sanchez, C.; Livage, J. J. Non-Cryst. Solids 1987, 89, 206.
- (55) Zhang, W.; Zhu, Z.; Cheng, C. Y. Hydrometallurgy 2011, 108, 177.
- (56) Arnal, P.; Corriu, R. J. P.; Leclercq, D.; Mutin, P. H.; Vioux, A. Chem. Mater. **1997**, *9*, 694.
- (57) Yang, H. G.; Sun, C. H.; Qiao, S. Z.; Zou, J.; Liu, G.; Smith, S. C.; Cheng, H. M.; Lu, G. Q. *Nature* **2008**, *453*, 638.
- (58) Gong, X. Q.; Selloni, A. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 19560.
- (59) Selloni, A. Nat. Mater. 2008, 7, 613.
- (60) Alcock, N. W.; Brown, D. A.; Illson, T. F.; Roe, S. M.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. **1991**, 873.
- (61) Barrow, H.; Brown, D. A.; Alcock, N. W.; Clase, H. J.; Wallbridge, M. G. H. J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1994, 195.

(62) Gindl, J.; Liu, F. Q.; Noltemeyer, M.; Schmidt, H. G.; Roesky, H. W. Inorg Chem. **1995**, 34, 5711.

- (63) Cohen, H. J. J. Organomet. Chem. 1966, 5, 413.
- (64) Menge, W. M. P. B.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 4628.
- (65) Naiini, A. A.; Menge, W. M. P. B.; Verkade, J. G. Inorg. Chem. 1991, 30, 5009.
- (66) Bickmore, C. R.; Waldner, K. F.; Baranwal, R.; Hinklin, T.; Treadwell, D. R.; Laine, R. M. J. Eur. Ceram. Soc. **1998**, 18, 287.
- (67) Bonchio, M.; Licini, G.; Modena, G.; Bortolini, O.; Moro, S.; Nugent, W. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, 121, 6258.
- (68) Sudhakar, P.; Valan Amburose, C.; Sundararajan, G.; Nethaji, M. Organometallics **2004**, *23*, 4462.
- (69) Shan, Z.; Gianotti, E.; Jansen, J. C.; Peters, J. A.; Marchese, L.; Maschmeyer, T. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 1437.
- (70) Kemmitt, T.; Al-Salim, N. I.; Gainsford, G. J. Inorg. Chem. 2000, 39, 6067.
- (71) Tomita, K.; Petrykin, V.; Kobayashi, M.; Shiro, M.; Yoshimura, M.; Kakihana, M. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2006**, 45, 2378.
- (72) Dakanali, M.; Kefalas, E. T.; Raptopoulou, C. P.; Terzis, A.; Voyiatzis, G.; Kyrikou, I.; Mavromoustakos, T.; Salifoglou, A. *Inorg. Chem.* **2003**, 42, 4632.
- (73) Kobayashi, M.; Tomita, K.; Petrykin, V.; Yoshimura, M.; Kakihana, M. J. Mater. Sci. 2008, 43, 2158.
- (74) Kakihana, M.; Tomita, K.; Petrykin, V.; Tada, M.; Sasaki, S.; Nakamura, Y. *Inorg.Chem.* **2004**, *43*, 4546.
- (75) Baskaran, S.; Song, L.; Liu, J.; Chen, Y. L.; Graff, G. L. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1998, 81, 401.
- (76) Rouse, J. H.; Ferguson, G. S. Adv. Mater. 2002, 14, 151.
- (77) Shi, X.; Cassagneau, T.; Caruso, F. Langmuir 2002, 18, 904.
- (78) Dambournet, D.; Belharouak, I.; Amine, K. Chem. Mater. 2009, 22, 1173.
- (79) Sakthivel, S.; Hidalgo, M. C.; Bahnemann, D. W.; Geissen, S. U.; Murugesan, V.; Vogelpohl, A. *Appl. Catal.*, B **2006**, *63*, 31.
- (80) Kominami, H.; Ishii, Y.; Kohno, M.; Konishi, S.; Kera, Y.; Ohtani, B. *Catal. Lett.* **2003**, *91*, 41.
- (81) Kobayashi, M.; Petrykin, V. V.; Kakihana, M.; Tomita, K.; Yoshimura, M. Chem. Mater. 2007, 19, 5373.
- (82) Livage, J.; Henry, M.; Sanchez, C. Prog. Solid State Chem. 1988, 18, 259.
- (83) Murakami, Y.; Matsumoto, T.; Takasu, Y. J. Phys. Chem. B 1999, 103, 1836.
- (84) Brinker, C. J.; Scherer, G. W. Sol-Gel Science: The Physics and Chemistry of Sol-Gel Processing; Academic Press, Inc.: San Diego, CA, 1990.
- (85) MacWan, D. P.; Dave, P. N.; Chaturvedi, S. J. Mater. Sci. 2011, 46, 3669.
- (86) Gopal, M.; Moberly Chan, W. J.; De Jonghe, L. C. J. Mater. Sci. 1997, 32, 6001.
- (87) Matijevic, E.; Budnik, M.; Meites, L. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1977, 61, 302.
- (88) Barringer, E. A.; Bowen, H. K. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 1982, 65, C-199.
- (89) Eiden-Assmann, S.; Widoniak, J.; Maret, G. Chem. Mater. 2004, 16, 6.

775

- (91) Li, G.; Zhang, S.; Yu, J. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 2011, 94, 4112.
- (92) Scolan, E.; Sanchez, C. M. Chem. Mater. 1998, 10, 3217.
- (93) Khanna, P. K.; Singh, N.; Charan, S. Mater. Lett. 2007, 61, 4725.
 (94) Jiu, J.; Wang, F.; Sakamoto, M.; Takao, J.; Adachi, M. J.
- Electrochem. Soc. 2004, 151, A1653–A1658.
- (95) Jiu, J.; Isoda, S.; Adachi, M.; Wang, F. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 2007, 189, 314.
- (96) Tian, B.; Chen, F.; Zhang, J.; Anpo, M. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2006, 303, 142.
- (97) Yin, S.; Hasegawa, H.; Maeda, D.; Ishitsuka, M.; Sato, T. J. Photochem. Photobiol., A 2004, 163, 1.
- (98) Han, S.; Choi, S. H.; Kim, S. S.; Cho, M.; Jang, B.; Kim, D. Y.; Yoon, J.; Hyeon, T. *Small* **2005**, *1*, 812.
- (99) Masashi, I. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2004, 16, S1291.
- (100) Kominami, H.; Inoue, M.; Inui, T. Catal. Today 1993, 16, 309.
- (101) Feldmann, C.; Jungk, H. O. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2001, 40, 359.
- (102) Klongdee, J.; Petchkroh, W.; Phuempoonsathaporn, K.; Praserthdam, P.; Vangnai, A. S.; Pavarajarn, V. Sci. Technol. Adv. Mater. 2005. 6. 290.
- (103) Sugimoto, T.; Sakata, K. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1992, 152, 587.
 (104) Sugimoto, T.; Okada, K.; Itoh, H. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 1997, 193, 140.
- (105) Kanie, K.; Sugimoto, T. Chem. Commun. 2004, 1584.
- (106) Wessel, C.; Zhao, L.; Urban, S.; Ostermann, R.; Djerdj, I.; Smarsly, B. M.; Chen, L.; Hu, Y. S.; Sallard, S. *Chem.—Eur. J.* **2011**, *17*,
- (107) Mansfeldova, V.; Laskova, B.; Krysova, H.; Zukalova, M.; Kavan, L. *Catal. Today* **2014**, 230, 85.
- (108) Cheng, H.; Ma, J.; Zhao, Z.; Qi, L. Chem. Mater. 1995, 7, 663.
 (109) Aruna, S. T.; Tirosh, S.; Zaban, A. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 2388.
- (110) Horvat, B.; Rečnik, A.; Dražić, G. J. Cryst. Growth 2012, 347, 19.
- (111) Chemseddine, A.; Moritz, T. Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 1999, 1999, 235.
- (112) Kasuga, T.; Hiramatsu, M.; Hoson, A.; Sekino, T.; Niihara, K. *Adv. Mater.* **1999**, *11*, 1307.
- (113) Kasuga, T.; Hiramatsu, M.; Hoson, A.; Sekino, T.; Niihara, K. Langmuir **1998**, *14*, 3160.
- (114) Ma, R.; Fukuda, K.; Sasaki, T.; Osada, M.; Bando, Y. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 6210.
- (115) Deng, Q.; Wei, M.; Ding, X.; Jiang, L.; Ye, B.; Wei, K. Chem. Commun. 2008, 3657.
- (116) Nian, J. N.; Teng, H. J. Phys. Chem. B 2006, 110, 4193.
- (117) Li, J.; Xu, D. Chem. Commun. 2010, 46, 2301.
- (118) Wei, M.; Konishi, Y.; Arakawa, H. J. Mater. Sci. 2007, 42, 529.
- (119) Wen, P.; Itoh, H.; Tang, W.; Feng, Q. Langmuir 2007, 23, 11782.
- (120) Gu, L.; Wang, J.; Cheng, H.; Du, Y.; Han, X. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 6978.
- (121) Yang, M. H.; Chen, P. C.; Tsai, M. C.; Chen, T. T.; Chang, I. C.; Chiu, H. T.; Lee, C. Y. *CrystEngComm* **2013**, *15*, 2966.
- (122) Murakami, N.; Kamai, T.; Tsubota, T.; Ohno, T. Catal. Commun. 2009, 10, 963.
- (123) Katsumata, K. i.; Ohno, Y.; Tomita, K.; Taniguchi, T.; Matsushita, N.; Okada, K. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2012, 4, 4846.
- (124) Zhao, M.; Li, L.; Lin, H.; Yang, L.; Li, G. Chem. Commun. **2013**, 49, 7046.
- (125) Zhang, Q.; Gao, L. Langmuir 2003, 19, 967.
- (126) Pottier, A.; Chaneac, C.; Tronc, E.; Mazerolles, L.; Jolivet, J. P. J. Mater. Chem. **2001**, *11*, 1116.
- (127) Shuang, Y.; Hou, Y.; Zhang, B.; Yang, H. G. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2013, 52, 4098.
- (128) Liu, L.; Gu, X.; Ji, Z.; Zou, W.; Tang, C.; Gao, F.; Dong, L. J. Phys. Chem. C 2013, 117, 18578.

- (129) Gai, L.; Mei, Q.; Qin, X.; Li, W.; Jiang, H.; Duan, X. Mater. Res. Bull. 2013, 48, 4469.
- (130) Jiao, W.; Wang, L.; Liu, G.; Lu, G. Q.; Cheng, H. M. ACS Catal. 2012, 2, 1854.
- (131) Möckel, H.; Giersig, M.; Willig, F. J. Mater. Chem. 1999, 9, 3051.
- (132) Kandiel, T. A.; Feldhoff, A.; Robben, L.; Dillert, R.; Bahnemann, D. W. Chem. Mater. 2010, 22, 2050.
- (133) Liu, N.; Zhao, Y.; Wang, X.; Peng, H.; Li, G. Mater. Lett. 2013, 102–103, 53.
- (134) Wang, X.; He, H.; Chen, Y.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, X. Appl. Surf. Sci. 2012, 258, 5863.
- (135) Li, H.; Zeng, Y.; Huang, T.; Piao, L.; Yan, Z.; Liu, M. Chem.— Eur. J. **2012**, *18*, 7525.
- (136) Liu, G.; Sun, C.; Yang, H. G.; Smith, S. C.; Wang, L.; Lu, G. Q.; Cheng, H. M. Chem. Commun. **2010**, *46*, 755.
- (137) Menzel, R.; Duerrbeck, A.; Liberti, E.; Yau, H. C.; McComb, D.; Shaffer, M. S. P. Chem. Mater. 2013, 25, 2137.
- (138) Han, X.; Kuang, Q.; Jin, M.; Xie, Z.; Zheng, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 3152.
- (139) Dai, Y.; Cobley, C. M.; Zeng, J.; Sun, Y.; Xia, Y. Nano Lett. 2009, 9, 2455.
- (140) Ma, X. Y.; Chen, Z. G.; Hartono, S. B.; Jiang, H. B.; Zou, J.; Qiao, S. Z.; Yang, H. G. *Chem. Commun.* **2010**, *46*, 6608.
- (141) Wang, M.; Chen, C.; Zhao, B.; Zeng, Q.; He, D. Mater. Lett. 2013, 109, 104.
- (142) Niederberger, M.; Pinna, N. Metal Oxide Nanoparticles in Organic Solvents: Synthesis, Formation, Assembly and Application; Springer: Berlin and Heidelberg, Germany, 2009.
- (143) Garnweitner, G.; Niederberger, M. J. Mater. Chem. 2008, 18, 1171.
- (144) Ito, D.; Yokoyama, S.; Zaikova, T.; Masuko, K.; Hutchison, J. E. ACS Nano **2013**, *8*, 64.
- (145) Ivanda, M.; Music, S.; Popovic, S.; Gotic, M. J. Mol. Struct. 1999, 480-481, 645.
- (146) Vioux, A. Chem. Mater. 1997, 9, 2292.
- (147) Du, J.; Zhang, J.; Kang, D. J. CrystEngComm 2011, 13, 4270.
- (148) Kim, C. S.; Moon, B. K.; Park, J. H.; Chung, S. T.; Son, S. M. J. Cryst. Growth 2003, 254, 405.
- (149) Kominami, H.; Kato, J.; Takada, Y.; Doushi, Y.; Ohtani, B.; Nishimoto, S.; Inoue, M.; Inui, T.; Kera, Y. *Catal. Lett.* **1997**, *46*, 235.
- (150) Kim, C. S.; Moon, B. K.; Park, J. H.; Choi, B. C.; Seo, H. J. J. Cryst. Growth 2003, 257, 309.
- (151) Chen, C.; Hu, R.; Mai, K.; Ren, Z.; Wang, H.; Qian, G.; Wang, Z. Cryst. Growth Des. 2011, 11, 5221.
- (152) Zhu, Q.; Peng, Y.; Lin, L.; Fan, C.-M.; Gao, G.-Q.; Wang, R.-X.; Xu, A.-W. J. Mater. Chem. A **2014**, *2*, 4429.
- (153) Gordon, T. R.; Cargnello, M.; Paik, T.; Mangolini, F.; Weber,
- R. T.; Fornasiero, P.; Murray, C. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 6751.
- (154) Dinh, C. T.; Nguyen, T. D.; Kleitz, F.; Do, T. O. ACS Nano 2009, 3, 3737.
- (155) Roca, R. A.; Leite, E. R. J. Am. Ceram. Soc. 2013, 96, 96.
- (156) Yang, H. G.; Liu, G.; Qiao, S. Z.; Sun, C. H.; Jin, Y. G.; Smith, S. C.; Zou, J.; Cheng, H. M.; Lu, G. Q. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131,
- 4078. (157) 7bag X. Jin W. Cai J. Va J. Li 7. Ma Y. Xia J. Oi J.
- (157) Zhao, X.; Jin, W.; Cai, J.; Ye, J.; Li, Z.; Ma, Y.; Xie, J.; Qi, L. Adv. Funct. Mater. **2011**, 21, 3554.
- (158) Wu, H. B.; Hng, H. H.; Lou, X. W. D. Adv. Mater. 2012, 24, 2567.
- (159) McManus, J. S.; Cunningham, P. D.; Regan, L. B.; Dunne, P. W. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 7453.
- (160) Kominami, H.; Kohno, M.; Kera, Y. J. Mater. Chem. 2000, 10, 1151.
- (161) Wang, X.; Zhuang, J.; Peng, Q.; Li, Y. Nature 2005, 437, 121.
- (162) Li, X. L.; Peng, Q.; Yi, J. X.; Wang, X.; Li, Y. Chem.—Eur. J. 2006, 12, 2383.
- (163) Niederberger, M.; Bartl, M. H.; Stucky, G. D. Chem. Mater. 2002, 14, 4364.

- (165) Niederberger, M.; Garnweitner, G.; Krumeich, F.; Nesper, R.; Cölfen, H.; Antonietti, M. *Chem. Mater.* **2004**, *16*, 1202.
- (166) Goncalves, R. H.; Schreiner, W. H.; Leite, E. R. Langmuir 2010, 26, 11657.
- (167) Trentler, T. J.; Denler, T. E.; Bertone, J. F.; Agrawal, A.; Colvin, V. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1999**, *121*, 1613.
- (168) Menzel, R.; Cottam, B. F.; Ziemian, S.; Shaffer, M. S. P. J. Mater. Chem. 2012, 22, 12172.
- (169) Parala, H.; Devi, A.; Bhakta, R.; Fischer, R. A. J. Mater. Chem. 2002, 12, 1625.
- (170) Zhang, Q.; Joo, J. B.; Lu, Z.; Dahl, M.; Oliveira, D.; Ye, M.; Yin, Y. *Nano Res.* **2011**, *4*, 103.
- (171) Cozzoli, P. D.; Kornowski, A.; Weller, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14539.
- (172) Zhang, Z.; Zhong, X.; Liu, S.; Li, D.; Han, M. Angew. Chem, Int. Ed. 2005, 44, 3466.
- (173) Seo, J.-w.; Jun, Y.-w.; Ko, S. J.; Cheon, J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 5389.
- (174) Huo, Z.; Tsung, C. K.; Huang, W.; Fardy, M.; Yan, R.; Zhang, X.; Li, Y.; Yang, P. Nano Lett. **2009**, *9*, 1260.
- (175) Kotsokechagia, T.; Cellesi, F.; Thomas, A.; Niederberger, M.; Tirelli, N. Langmuir 2008, 24, 6988.
- (176) Kotsokechagia, T.; Zaki, N. M.; Syres, K.; de Leonardis, P.; Thomas, A.; Cellesi, F.; Tirelli, N. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 11490.
- (177) Cadman, C. J.; Pucci, A.; Cellesi, F.; Tirelli, N. Adv. Funct. Mater. 2014, 24, 993.

(178) Wu, B.; Guo, C.; Zheng, N.; Xie, Z.; Stucky, G. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 17563.

(179) Dar, M. I.; Chandiran, A. K.; Gratzel, M.; Nazeeruddin, M. K.; Shivashankar, S. A. J. Mater. Chem. A **2014**, *2*, 1662.

(180) Szeifert, J. M.; Feckl, J. M.; Fattakhova-Rohlfing, D.; Liu, Y.; Kalousek, V.; Rathousky, J.; Bein, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 12605.

- (181) Tang, J.; Redl, F.; Zhu, Y.; Siegrist, T.; Brus, L. E.; Steigerwald, M. L. *Nano Lett.* **2005**, *5*, 543.
- (182) O'Brien, S.; Brus, L.; Murray, C. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 12085.
- (183) Buonsanti, R.; Grillo, V.; Carlino, E.; Giannini, C.; Kipp, T.; Cingolani, R.; Cozzoli, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2008**, 130, 11223.
- (184) Buonsanti, R.; Carlino, E.; Giannini, C.; Altamura, D.; De Marco, L.; Giannuzzi, R.; Manca, M.; Gigli, G.; Cozzoli, P. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2011**, 133, 19216.
- (185) Ding, K.; Miao, Z.; Liu, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Han, B.; An, G.; Miao, S.; Xie, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 6362.
- (186) Lin, Z.; Cai, J. J.; Scriven, L. E.; Davis, H. T. J. Phys. Chem. 1994, 98, 5984.
- (187) Ganguli, A. K.; Ganguly, A.; Vaidya, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2010, 39, 474.
- (188) Eastoe, J.; Hollamby, M. J.; Hudson, L. Adv. Colloid Interface Sci. 2006, 128–130, 5.
- (189) Chhabra, V.; Pillai, V.; Mishra, B. K.; Morrone, A.; Shah, D. O. *Langmuir* **1995**, *11*, 3307.
- (190) Kim, K. D.; Kim, S. H.; Kim, H. T. Colloids Surf., A 2005, 254, 99.
- (191) Li, G. L.; Wang, G. H. Nanostruct. Mater. 1999, 11, 663.
- (192) Lim, K. T.; Hwang, H. S.; Ryoo, W.; Johnston, K. P. Langmuir 2004, 20, 2466.
- (193) Zhang, D.; Qi, L.; Ma, J.; Cheng, H. J. Mater. Chem. 2002, 12, 3677.
- (194) Wu, M.; Long, J.; Huang, A.; Luo, Y.; Feng, S.; Xu, R. Langmuir 1999, 15, 8822.
- (195) Inaba, R.; Fukahori, T.; Hamamoto, M.; Ohno, T. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. **2006**, 260, 247.
- (196) Lin, J.; Lin, Y.; Liu, P.; Meziani, M. J.; Allard, L. F.; Sun, Y. P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2002**, 124, 11514.
- (197) Feldheim, D. L.; Eaton, B. E. ACS Nano 2007, 1, 154.

(198) Chiu, C. Y.; Li, Y.; Ruan, L.; Ye, X.; Murray, C. B.; Huang, Y. Nat. Chem. 2011, 3, 393.

Review

- (199) Yan, J.; Wu, G.; Li, L.; Yu, A.; Sun, X.; Naijia, G. J. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. **2010**, *10*, 5767.
- (200) Sewell, S. L.; Wright, D. W. Chem. Mater. 2006, 18, 3108.
- (201) Bansal, V.; Rautaray, D.; Bharde, A.; Ahire, K.; Sanyal, A.; Ahmad, A.; Sastry, M. J. Mater. Chem. 2005, 15, 2583.
- (202) Jiang, Y.; Yang, D.; Zhang, L.; Li, L.; Sun, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Li, J.; Jiang, Z. Dalton Trans. 2008, 4165.
- (203) Wang, Z.; Lou, X. W. Adv. Mater. 2012, 24, 4124.
- (204) Yang, Z.; Niu, Z.; Lu, Y.; Hu, Z.; Han, C. C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1943.
- (205) Crossland, E. J. W.; Noel, N.; Sivaram, V.; Leijtens, T.; Alexander-Webber, J. A.; Snaith, H. J. Nature **2013**, 495, 215.
- (206) Li, Y.; Kim, S. J. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 12309.
- (207) Pan, J.; Wu, X.; Wang, L.; Liu, G.; Lu, G. Q.; Cheng, H. M. Chem. Commun. 2011, 47, 8361.